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Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757), is a leading 
supplier of solar energy services. Its products are not only sold to 
customers in the mid-stream industries, but also directly to end users. 

During the year, the Group was mainly engaged in the following 
businesses:

(a) the manufacture and trading of photovoltaic modules;

(b) the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants; and

(c) the manufacture and trading of semi conductor, the trading of 
monocrystalline silicon solar cells and others.

The Group now focuses on the manufacturing and sales of downstream 
photovoltaic modules in the photovoltaic industry. Among them the 
major customers of photovoltaic modules are large domestic state-owned 
enterprises, multinational corporations and other photovoltaic end-
user customers. This enables the Group to fully demonstrate its current 
advantages in the production of such products. Moreover, the Group is 
engaged in the installation of photovoltaic systems and the development, 
design, construction, operation and maintenance of photovoltaic 
generation plants.

As of the end of December 2024, the module production capacity of the 
Group was 10.2GW.

757

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

10.2
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Five-Year Financial Summary

RMB’000
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

       

Revenue 6,051,956 4,640,843 6,869,362 7,192,853 3,706,198
Gross profit 585,852 404,997 271,264 458,003 104,039
Profit/(loss) for the year (196,367) 302,352 1,112,088 141,668 (226,996)
Profit/(loss) attributable to 
 owners of the parent  (215,648) 193,222 957,163 111,906 (227,084)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 
 (RMB cents)  ( ) (6.82) 5.84 28.80 3.37 (6.83)       

Non-current assets 1,743,154 2,166,354 1,004,472 929,930 795,839
Current assets 3,858,549 4,124,818 6,732,819 4,738,265 3,187,190
Current liabilities 4,822,316 4,893,543 6,117,099 4,121,752 2,748,573
Non-current liabilities 439,391 725,350 414,494 353,334 272,024
Net assets 339,996 672,279 1,205,698 1,193,109 962,432
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
GROW TO ACHIEVE SUCCESS
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

GDP
3.1% 3.2%

AI

In 2024, the global real GDP grew stably, generally maintaining in the 
range from 3.1% to 3.2%. It was worth noting that divergent trends 
among developed economies and emerging economies were becoming 
increasingly distinct. Meanwhile, more than 70 countries around the 
world held general elections, and global economic and trade relations 
were increasingly affected by political factors. In addition, the vigorous 
development of emerging fields such as AI (artificial intelligence) and 
green transformation had brought new vitality to global economic 
development, which was expected to advance the reshaping of the global 
economic landscape.

Dear honorable shareholders,
On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) 
of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited, I would 
like to present our operating performance in 
2024, challenges and opportunities we face, and 
future development plans to all shareholders.

TAN Wenhua,
Executive Director and Chairman
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

227.0

 

43%

5.33

In 2024, the global photovoltaic market installed capacity continued to 
maintain steady growth. However, due to the relative imbalance between 
supply and demand, the industry generally experienced increased volume 
and lowered prices, pressures in terms of profits and slowdown in the 
growth rate. In the past few years, the disorder flowing of significant 
capitals into the photovoltaic industry in a disorderly manner caused 
photovoltaic production capacity to expand rapidly in the short term in 
2024, far exceeding the actual market demand. Therefore, the problem 
of overcapacity became extremely prominent, which in turn triggered 
an imbalanced price system. Against this backdrop, domestically, the 
photovoltaic market presented a momentum featuring “lower prices, 
higher volumes and slower growth rate”, where industry competition 
was increasingly fierce. Internationally, the landscape was complex 
and ever-changing, and the trade protectionism was rising, which had 
increased uncertainty in the supply of traditional energy. These factors 
have brought huge impacts to the photovoltaic industry. With an array 
of interwoven internal and external difficulties, the entire photovoltaic 
industry was struggling to move forward in a complex environment. As a 
result, the Group incurred a loss of approximately RMB227.0 million for 
the year. That being said, the Group firmly believes that it would be able 
to achieve a recovery in performance in the future by actively formulating 
domestically and internationally customized marketing strategies and 
further strengthening technological transformation and research and 
development investment.

In a global view, the market share of our own brands grew 
against the trend

Despite the uncertain and fluctuated market environment, we made 
concerted efforts to gain a foothold in the turbulent market. During 
the reporting period, the domestic sales team of the module business 
made efforts to cement existing customers and proactively explore new 
customers, with newly added 16 customers whose orders accounted 
for 43% of the annual sales volume. These efforts helped achieve an 
increased market share of our own brands against the trend.

In a global view, we are deeply aware of the global nature of the new 
energy technology manufacturing industry. Although anti-globalization 
had intensified operating risks, we made active endeavors to respond 
to the turbulent trade pattern, integrate resources and strengthen the 
construction of overseas service networks, such as opening up new 
markets such as Kenya and Ukraine. These endeavors enabled us to 
achieve sales of RMB 533 million for the year and significant profits from 
overseas orders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

 

TOPCon 0BB N HJT

+

In an aim to achieve the profit target of the Group in 2025, in the 
domestic market, we will further strengthen cooperation with state-
owned and central enterprises, keep up with bidding dynamics to 
take active participation in biddings and deepen partnerships in a way 
that expands diversified businesses. In the international market, we 
will improve our overseas business layout by adopting strategies of 
“big customers” and “less competition”. On the one hand, we will be 
equipped with independent teams to focus on key markets such as Japan; 
on the other hand, we will build a localized elite sales team to actively 
explore emerging markets such as the Middle East and Africa. We will 
also work to improve the overseas business undertaking and overseas 
employee management system, accelerate our overseas expansion, and 
strive to become a truly recognized “time-honored” oriental brand in 
various countries and regions where we operate businesses.

Commitment to innovation to be a reliable supplier of 
photovoltaic products

As the Group has continued to increase its investment in scientific 
research, fruitful results have been yielded in dedications to cutting-
edge technologies. During the reporting period, the Group successfully 
launched various new products, such as TOPCon superimposed 0BB 
technology modules, N-type HJT modules, ultra-light flexible modules, 
and offshore double-glass modules, which effectively improved the 
battery conversion efficiency, and helped us acquire orders in the 
terminal market and achieve actual application scenarios. In addition, 
the special crystalline silicon module products such as imitation stone 
and colored patterns, and zero-carbon mobile architecture products 
we have developed allow photovoltaics to integrate with architectures, 
realizing photovoltaic + applications in specific scenarios; the research 
and development and sales of special-shaped silicon products have also 
played a role in the semiconductor field. At the same time, we make 
consistent efforts to strengthen the Group’s technological reserves, 
and jointly dedicate to the research of perovskite technology with West 
Lake University to share research results. We also actively promote the 
introduction of raw materials and reliability testing, and increase the 
number of available material suppliers, to provide solid guarantees for 
product quality.

In terms of production and manufacturing, the output of our Jinzhou 
base and Jianhu base gained steady growth, with well-controlled yield 
rate and fragmentation rate. Measures such as equipment adaptation and 
upgrading and process optimization contributed to cost reduction and 
efficiency improvement, providing strong support for the Group’s orders 
in terms of costs.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

 

ERP

Looking forward, we will intensify our efforts in technology research and 
development, promote new product development in light of benefits, 
carbon footprint reduction and customized scenario needs, and focus 
on matching research and development with processes to improve 
research and development efficiency. We will accelerate the construction 
of Jiangsu Jianhu Smart Research Institute and laboratories to build 
important experimental and research and development platforms for the 
Company’s new products and future product incubation. Meanwhile, 
we will execute strict control over quality management, conduct rigorous 
monitoring at every link from raw material procurement to production 
and manufacturing to ensure that product quality meets standards, and 
maintain quality traceability to become a reliable supplier of photovoltaic 
products.

Benchmarking Against Advanced Indicators, Making Good Use 
of Reverse Thinking to Make Careful Decisions

In 2024, the Group continued the concept of “Benchmarking against 
advanced indicators” proposed in 2022, with cost potential as the 
direction, improved the production management mechanism, deeply 
integrated production process optimization with new product research 
and development, and achieved effective connection between research 
and development and production lines. The Group also accelerated the 
renewal of old domestic equipment, improved the degree of automation, 
expanded overseas production capacity layout, comprehensively 
evaluated market demand, resource support and policy environment 
and other factors, and selected the most suitable region for production 
capacity layout. Meanwhile, we enhanced awareness of safety production 
management and ensured safety in production and zero accidents.

In 2025, the Group will focus on strengthening the collaborative 
management of the business chain, supply chain and capital chain, 
optimizing procurement strategies, stabilizing supply and reducing costs. 
We will improve the ability to control the capital chain, strengthen audit 
supervision of expenses, control unreasonable expenses, optimize the 
management of accounts receivable and accounts payable, expand 
funding channels, and ensure sufficient cash flow. We will establish a 
digital information factory, improve the ERP system, launch a digital 
management platform for R&D, promote DingTalk online office, form a 
unified bidding platform, and improve the Group’s operating efficiency 
and management level. Guided by the target cost method, we will 
achieve cost reduction and efficiency improvement in multiple aspects, 
make good use of reverse thinking to reverse the cost control strategy, 
and make good use of every penny.
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People-Oriented, Insisting on Treating Talents as the Precious 
Wealth of the Group

As a group company with profound heritage, the core members of our 
key team have experienced ups and downs in the industry and have 
extensive practical experience. The newly acquired high-quality talents 
have brought new vitality to the team, forming such a powerful and 
capable team. High-target traction and high-performance culture have 
always been a powerful magnetic field for us to attract talents. We focus 
on hiring and retaining intelligent and talented employees, creating a 
relaxed and stress-free expression environment for employees, believing 
in the self-motivation of outstanding talents, so that the Group’s 
employment is not bound by age and qualifications, ensuring that people 
who are willing to strive, capable, and successful get a platform to display 
their talents and jointly promote the continuous development of the 
Company.

Next, we will closely follow the Company’s strategic goals and 
business development trends, and flexibly and scientifically adjust the 
organizational structure. We will further improve management processes 
and systems, optimize internal communication mechanisms, streamline 
cumbersome processes, and improve overall work efficiency. Meanwhile, 
we will be practical, break down profit targets layer by layer, implement 
them to each department and individual, establish a task system and a 
checklist system, strengthen follow-up and supervision, and ensure that 
the Group’s goals are achieved with high quality.

Outlook

The famous entrepreneur Kazuo Inamori once said: “To succeed, you 
must embrace your dreams and indulge in them, you must continue to 
work hard, keep your feet on the ground, and move forward step by 
step”. This coincides with the original intention that Solargiga Energy 
has adhered to for more than 20 years. For more than twenty years, we 
have been rooted in the photovoltaic industry with our passion for the 
photovoltaic business. We are aware that only by keeping our feet on the 
ground can we seize the initiative in every technological innovation, gain 
a firm foothold in every cycle, and accumulate a steady stream of power 
for the long-term development of the Group.

In 2025, we will have new development opportunities. 2025 is an 
important node as the fifth anniversary of the “dual carbon” goal, and it 
is also a key year for the transformation of China’s new energy system. 
The support of national policies and the improvement of the industry 
environment will provide broad space for the development of the Group. 
2025 will also be a crucial year for Solargiga Energy.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In the coming year, the Group will focus on core business areas and 
implement diversified market expansion strategies. We will increase 
our efforts in mature markets, for example, China, Japan, and Europe 
to consolidate our market share. Meanwhile, we will actively explore 
emerging markets, for example, Southeast Asia and the Middle East 
and formulate target market entry plans. At the same time, we will also 
implement internal measures to improve organizational effectiveness, 
promote the emergence of a new generation of products and lead 
the industry’s technological iteration, accelerate the global business 
deployment, enhance the Group’s international influence, and achieve 
sustainable development of the Group.

We are fully aware that the development of the Group is inseparable from 
the support and trust of every shareholder. In the future development 
path, we will continue to uphold an attitude of responsibility to 
shareholders, work hard, and strive to create greater value for every 
shareholder. We look forward to sharing more Group development 
achievements with shareholders in the next year.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
TAN Wenhua
Executive Director and Chairman

26 March 2025
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Market Overview
I. Global market conditions of the industry in which we 

operate

In 2024, the global geopolitical situation was complicated and 
volatile, resulting in a deeply adjusted international pattern, 
affecting the global energy market profoundly. The international 
landscape of oil and gas experienced reshaping. In particular, 
the Russia-Ukraine Crisis has driven the export trend of oil and 
gas in Russia by retreating from the west while advancing to 
the east, which led to the global energy market developing with 
rising demand in the east while decreasing demand in the west, 
thus resulting in rebound demand in supply-side investment. 
Besides, with sufficient supply over demand for fossil energy, the 
overall price thereof presented downward, which represented 
potential opportunities for the new energy industry for vigorous 
development. Guided under the global low-carbon goals, the global 
investment in clean energy sector exceeded USD2.0 trillion in 2024, 
about 2 times of the total investment in fossil energy, indicating 
that energy transition has become the international mainstream 
trend. In particular, the photovoltaic industry, as a key area of new 
energy, has attracted much attention.

During the reporting period, the growth rate of new photovoltaic 
installations slowed down in both global and domestic markets, 
but the demand in emerging markets showed strong, offering 
new space of growth for the industry. With the rapid release of 
production capacity in the upstream supply side and the fast decline 
in the cost of energy, the entire industry chain showed a trend of 
volume increase and price decline as a whole, resulting in serious 
challenges faced by enterprises in profitability. The United States, 
the European Union, India and other traditional markets are subject 
to trading restrictions with increasingly heavy trade barriers, which 
made the Middle East, Southeast Asia and other emerging markets 
to show potential gradually. At the same time, under the context of 
the rapid iteration of PV technology, TOPCon accounted for more 
than 70% as the mainstream, along with blooming development 
of BC, HJT, perovskite, tandem and other new cost-reduction 
technologies. Under the trend of accelerated reconstruction of the 
global energy structure, challenges and opportunities coexist in 
industry development, pushing businesses to re-review and change 
their minds for overseas layout by optimising allocation of resources 
and strengthening cooperation in technological innovation to adapt 
to the new market pattern and seek for longer-term development.

 

TOPCon 70% BC HJT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

( )
( )
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Market Overview (Continued)
I. Global market conditions of the industry in which we 

operate (Continued)

(i) Slowing growth in global PV installation, supplemented by rapid 
development in emerging markets

Based on the latest data of Bloomberg New Energy Finance (BNEF), 
the total new global solar PV installations in 2024 was about 
599GW, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately 
34.9% compared to 2023. Although the Europe, the United States 
and other major traditional photovoltaic markets are affected 
by the uncertainties arising from grid consumption, presidential 
election and subsidy policies, which leads to an increasing wait-
and-see position of developers in the short run, the rise of 
emerging markets is injecting new growth momentum into the 
global PV market. In recent years, the Middle East region, led by 
Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Oman and other countries, 
has shown significant increase in market demand benefiting from 
the strong government support and efficient promotion of a series 
of utility-scale projects. As for Asia-Pacific market, the growth rate 
of installed capacity has increased significantly benefiting from the 
continued promotion of favorable green power policies, which has 
strongly supported the global demand for photovoltaic market.

(ii) The intensive production of new production capacity of each 
link in the industry chain has led to phrased imbalance of the 
supply and demand structure

The PV industry has been booming in the past five years, where the 
new production expansion projects and investment plans of various 
segments across the industry chain have been put into production 
intensively in a short period of time, resulting in a robust expansion 
of production capacity in both upstream and downstream business 
in the short run. According to InfoLink, as of the end of December 
2024, the global annualized production capacity of photovoltaic 
modules has reached 1,322 GW, while the total amount of newly 
installed capacity in the world in 2024 was only 599 GW, indicating 
that the supply-demand contradiction was relatively prominent in 
specific stages. At the same time, there is also an obvious mismatch 
between supply and demand in key modules such as silicon 
materials, wafers and cells. During the reporting period, the prices 
of silicon material, silicon wafers, cells and modules all recorded 
considerable drop, generating general pressure on the gross profit 
margins of each segment.



15ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

( )
( )
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Market Overview (Continued)
I. Global market conditions of the industry in which we 

operate (Continued)

(iii) Flourishing development of new technologies with TOPCon 
cells taking the lead

Cost reduction and efficiency enhancement has been always the 
major concern of development of PV industry. Along with the 
rapid penetration of N-type cell technology, TOPCon technology 
has established its position as the mainstream cell technology by 
virtue of its significant advantages in technology maturity, industrial 
synergy and efficient manufacturing cost. According to the latest 
forecast by InfoLink, N-type TOPCon technology would account for 
a high market share of 71% in 2024, and further increase to 82% 
in 2025.

Source: InfoLink

Estimation on market shares of various technologies:

During the reporting period, PV enterprises are now actively 
committed to making business layout for next-generation 
cell technologies, and BC, HJT, perovskite, tandem and other 
technologies have delivered satisfying performance in cost 
reduction and eff ic iency enhancement in the process of 
industrialization. However, it is generally expected by the industry 
that N-type TOPCon technology will still dominate the global PV 
market in the next three to four years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Market Overview (Continued)
I. Global market conditions of the industry in which we 

operate (Continued)

(iv) Intensified trade protection push PV corporations to re-plan 
overseas layout

As the PV industry is booming globally, trade protectionism is 
quietly appearing in the PV industry chain. In order to achieve the 
goal of clean energy transformation, countries have successively 
adopted trade barrier measures and vigorously promoted the policy 
of localization of production capacity, aiming at accelerating the 
localization process of new energy supply chain and enhancing 
the autonomy and competitiveness of their countries in the global 
photovoltaic market. During the reporting period, the United 
States, the European Union, India and other major traditional 
overseas photovoltaic markets have introduced intensified trade 
protection measures, and the growing trade barriers posed a threat 
to China’s foreign trade export which is driven by price advantage.

II. The Performance of the PRC Market in the Industry

Since 2015, the cumulative installed PV capacity in China has 
ranked first in the world for 10 consecutive years, establishing 
an important position in the global PV field. During the reporting 
period, the newly installed PV capacity in China reached 277.17 
GW, a year-on-year increase of 27.8%, representing a new 
historical record. According to the data released by the National 
Energy Administration, as at the end of 2024, the cumulative 
installed power generation capacity in China was approximately 
3.35 billion kW, a year-on-year increase of 14.6%. Among which, 
the installed solar power generation capacity was approximately 
890 million kW, a year-on-year increase of 45.2%. Surpassing the 
installed capacity of wind power and hydropower and becoming 
the second largest power source in China, the PV industry is 
becoming increasingly prominent in the energy structure in China.

In 2024, the output of upstream polysilicon, midstream silicon 
wafers, battery cells and modules in China maintains high growth, 
but product prices also decline accordingly. At the same time, as 
affected by the growth of demand for domestic installed capacity 
and overseas trade barriers, the share of PV module products of 
Chinese corporations in the domestic market shipments has shown 
an upward trend, and domestic market competition has become 
increasingly fierce.

( )
( )

  

277.17 27.8%

33.5
14.6%

8.9 45.2%
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Market Overview (Continued)
II. The Performance of the PRC Market in the Industry 

(Continued)

Facing price fluctuations and fierce competition, China Photovoltaic 
Industry Association took the lead in organizing a self-discipline 
convention. The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology 
has also published the “Regulations for the Photovoltaic 
Manufacturing Industry (2024 Edition)”, aiming to promote the 
optimization of industry layout and control the total production 
capacity. All parties began to explore ways to stabilize the market 
price system and regulate the competitive order in the industry. 
The positive actions of all parties in the industry and the continuous 
introduction of favorable national policies have promoted the 
healthy and orderly development of the industry.

III. The Performance of Overseas Key Markets in the Industry

US market: According to the estimation of InfoLink, the US 
imported approximately 48.4 GW of modules in 2024, a year-
on-year decrease of 3%. The main reason for the decline is the 
impact of anti-dumping and countervailing duties. In the past, 
the four Southeast Asian countries were as the main source of 
module imports for the US. After the tax rates were added, the 
import volume of modules continued to decline. In the future, the 
focus of imports may shift to Indonesia, Laos and other countries 
that are not subject to anti-dumping and countervailing duty 
investigations. In addition, the supply side of the US market has 
been suppressed by the intensification of trade barriers, while the 
demand side has been affected by the president election, high 
interest rate environment and uncertainties in PV subsidy policies. 
The developers have increasingly adopted a wait-and-see approach.

EU market: In 2024, the EU PV market has been generally weak. In 
2024, the volume of PV imports in the European market decreased 
by 7% compared with 2023, marking the first negative growth. 
Moreover, according to a report issued by SolarPower Europe, the 
newly installed PV capacity of the 27 EU countries was 65.5 GW 
in 2024, a year-on-year increase of 4% from 62.8 GW in 2023, 
but a decline of 92% compared with the growth rate from 2021 
to 2023. Among the top ten PV markets in the EU, there are five 
countries with a month-on-month decline in new installed capacity 
in 2024, including Spain, Poland, the Netherlands, Austria and 
Hungary.

( )
( )

InfoLink
48.4 3%

7%
SolarPower Europe

27 65.5
62.8 4%

92%
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Market Overview (Continued)
III. The Performance of Overseas Key Markets in the Industry 

(Continued)

Indian market: As shown in the data from the Ministry of New and 
Renewable Energy (MNRE) of India, the new installed PV capacity 
in India reached 24.5 GW in 2024, representing 47% of the total 
cumulative installed renewable energy capacity. According to the 
estimation of InfoLink, India imported a total of approximately 
20.4 GW of modules in 2024, a year-on-year increase of 25%. 
However, the Indian PV market is greatly affected by the approved 
list of models and manufacturers (ALMM) and basic customs 
duty (BCD) policies. Since April 2024, India has imposed a basic 
customs duty of 40% and 25% on foreign-made solar modules 
and cells respectively, to enhance the competitiveness of local 
manufacturers. Since then, the import volume of modules in the 
Indian market has declined significantly.

Middle East market: Currently, approximately 93% of power in the 
Middle East comes from fossil fuels. According to Rystad Energy, 
a consulting firm, by 2040, renewable energy generation in the 
Middle East is expected to exceed fossil energy; by 2050, PV is 
expected to contribute more than half of the power supply in the 
Middle East, and the proportion of renewable energy generation 
will reach approximately 70%. In recent years, the Middle East 
market has become a popular choice for PV companies to expand 
overseas due to its numerous large-scale government bidding 
projects. According to data published by China Energy Storage 
Alliance (CNESA), by 2024, Chinese energy storage corporations 
have signed overseas energy storage contracts worth more than 
150 GWh, with the Middle East accounting for 8%. In the future, 
there is still much room for growth in the scale of renewable 
energy demand in the Middle East.

Southeast Asian market: In 2024, installed PV capacity in 
Southeast Asian countries continued to grow rapidly, with utility-
scale installed solar and wind power capacity increasing by 20% 
over the past year to 28 GW. In recent years, governments in 
various Southeast Asian countries have actively promoted the 
development of renewable energy. For example, the national 
energy transformation roadmap in Malaysia sets a long-term 
target of 70% renewable energy capacity by 2050; the Solar 
for Rakyat program implemented in Malaysia in March 2024 
proposes to provide 350 MW of tax exemption quotas for projects, 
reflecting the stable growth potential of the PV market in Malaysia 
in the future. Although the US has launched an anti-dumping 
and countervailing investigation on PV products from the four 
Southeast Asian countries, affecting local PV product exports, there 
is still huge potential in the photovoltaic manufacturing industry in 
Southeast Asia.
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Market Overview (Continued)
III. The Performance of Overseas Key Markets in the Industry 

(Continued)

Mexican market: The Mexican Energy Regulatory Commission has 
published data on small, medium and distributed power generation 
in 2024, with cumulative PV installations reaching 4,421.65 MW, 
accounting for 99.409%. According to the energy reform bill 
submitted by Sheinbaum, the Mexican president, at the end of 
December 2024, the Mexican Commission of Federal Electricity 
(CFE) is required to provide at least 54% of power to the national 
grid (the remaining 46% is composed of private investment), and 
meanwhile, a new energy regulatory agency was established; the 
Mexican Commission of Federal Electricity (CFE) announced at the 
same time that, it would invest a total of US$28.94 billion by 2030 
to achieve 99.99% power coverage for Mexican households during 
Sheinbaum’s term.

Although trade protectionism has brought numerous challenges, 
it has also brought new development opportunities to PV 
corporations. An increasing number of PV corporations have 
realized that going overseas has become an inevitable trend in 
the development of the PV industry, which has prompted more 
PV corporations to re-examine and change their overseas layout 
ideas, cope with trade barriers through strategies such as technical 
cooperation, building local sales teams and localized production, 
and seize opportunities to adapt to the new market structure.

IV. Future development trends

(i) The prospect of the PV industry remains promising in the 
process of energy transition

The World Energy Transitions Outlook 2024 released by the 
International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) states that global 
energy-related CO2 emissions are expected to be cut by 3% 
by 2030 and 51% by 2050 according to the current nationally 
determined contribution (NDC) targets of the countries concerned. 
This requires the Group of 20 (G20) nations to make great strides 
in adjusting their energy structure – the installed capacity of 
renewable energy must be tripled to 9,400GW from the current 
level by 2030; and must be increased sevenfold to 24,900GW 
compared to the level of 2023.
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Market Overview (Continued)
IV. Future development trends (Continued)

(i) The prospect of the PV industry remains promising in the 
process of energy transition (Continued)

At present, PV power generation has become the most cost-
effective source of electricity in most countries and regions. 
According to data from China Photovoltaic Industry Association 
(CPIA), the number of global GW-level PV markets will increase 
from 31 in 2023 to 37 in 2024. With the gradual release of PV 
demand in emerging countries, the number of global GW-level 
PV markets is expected to grow further in the future. Therefore, 
the global PV industry still has ample room for development in 
the future. The Group will actively seize this market opportunity 
and seek new breakthroughs for its business expansion and 
performance growth.

(ii) The supply and demand pattern has begun to improve 
marginally as driven by national policies

In order to cope with the dilemma of supply and demand mismatch 
in various parts of the main PV industry chain, the supply and 
demand relationship in the PV industry has begun to show positive 
marginal changes, as driven by national policies, active advocacy of 
CPIA and the self-discipline awareness of enterprises. In addition, 
given that the current pace of the industry’s capital expenditure has 
slowed down significantly, and backward production capacity has 
been gradually eliminated by the market, the supply and demand 
relationship in each segment of the industry chain is expected to 
continue to improve in the future. The Group will closely monitor 
industry trends, adjust its production strategies in a timely manner 
and optimize its production capacity layout, so as to secure a 
favorable position in the adjustment of market supply and demand 
structure and enhance its overall competitiveness and profitability.



21ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

( )
( )

 

Market Overview (Continued)
IV. Future development trends (Continued)

(iii) The PV demand pattern has changed while regional layout has 
become a trend

At present, the PV industry, as a key support for energy transition, 
has become one of the important driving forces for global 
economic growth, and governments around the world have 
attached great importance to it. Major economies such as the 
United States, the European Union and India have successively 
introduced support policies for the PV industry and trade protection 
policies to promote the development of their own PV industries. 
Under such situation, the global PV development model is facing 
reform, and future PV demand may gradually evolve from a global 
layout to a regional one.

In the face of this trend, the Group will actively adapt to changes 
in the demand structure and accelerate its regional layout while 
adhering to its overseas expansion strategies. By establishing 
localized production bases, research and development centers and 
sales teams in target markets, the Group will be able to gain a 
deeper understanding of local market demands as well as policies 
and regulations, make full use of local resources and effectively 
respond to trade protection barriers, thereby achieving sustainable 
development in the global PV market and creating greater value for 
its shareholders.
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Operation Review
Operations Summary

To respond to the global climate changes and the acceleration of 
the journey of global transition to the green energy, renewable and 
clean energy, represented by photovoltaics, has become the main 
development strategy and goals for most of countries around 
the world in the energy consumption. With more governments’ 
policies and strategic supports, cost reductions and continuous 
advancement in photovoltaic technological development, it is an 
indisputable fact that photovoltaic energy is now the renewable 
and clean energy with enormous development potential as 
compared with other sources of renewable energy and fossil fuel, 
so the continued growth in demands for photovoltaic products 
have already occurred. The Group has maintained a high-
quality development in business in and has continuously focused 
on the manufacturing and sales of downstream photovoltaic 
modules in the photovoltaic industry. Our major customers of 
photovoltaic modules are large domestic state-owned enterprises 
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), multinational 
corporations and other photovoltaic end-user customers. In 
addition, the Group is engaged in the installation of photovoltaic 
systems and the development, design, construction, operation 
and maintenance of photovoltaic generation plants.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Operations Summary (Continued)

As the first batch of domestic photovoltaic enterprises engaged in the 
production of photovoltaic products, with 20 years of experience in 
the photovoltaic industry, the Group now has accumulated mature 
experience in terms of technology, domestic and overseas market 
development, industrial chain cooperation, brand effect, premium 
services, etc. Subsidiaries of the Group have obtained more than 400 
National patents, third prize of National Business Science and Technology 
Progress Award, first prize for China’s Industry-Academic Cooperation 
Innovation Achievement and more than 40 provincial and municipal 
science and technology first prizes, second prizes, and achievement 
awards. The awards are: National High-tech Enterprise, National Green 
Factory, National Intelligent Photovoltaic Pilot Demonstration Enterprise, 
National Photovoltaic Manufacturing Industry Specified Conditions 
Admission Regulated Enterprise, National Intellectual Property Advantage 
Enterprise, Provincial Intelligent Manufacturing Demonstration Factory, 
Provincial Green Supply Chain Management Enterprise, Provincial Five-
star Cloud Enterprise, Provincial Enterprise Technology Center, Provincial 
Engineering Technology Research Center, Photovoltaic Testing Center 
with China National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment’s 
laboratory accredited, National Model Enterprise of Harmonious Labor 
Relations – Excellent Enterprise, Top 500 Global New Energy Companies 
in 2024 (No.282), Top 500 PRC Energy Companies (Group) in 2024 
(No.323), Top 20 PRC Photovoltaic Module Companies in 2024 (No.14), 
Top 100 PRC Photovoltaic and Energy Storage Brands in 2024 (No.56), 
Photovoltaic Brand Lab (PVBL) 2024 Global Photovoltaic Top 100 (No.76), 
PVBL Global Photovoltaic Brand Value (Module) Top 20 (No.12), PVBL 
2024 Global Photovoltaic Brand Communication Award, 2024 Most 
Influential Photovoltaic Module Enterprise, 2024 Distributed Photovoltaic 
Gold Product Award, 2023 Leading China’s Top 100 Renewable Energy 
Photovoltaic Enterprises, and China’s High-quality Household and 
Industrial and Commercial Photovoltaic Module Brand in 2023. The 
Group is the vice chairman unit of PRC Photovoltaic Industry Association, 
vice chairman unit of Semiconductor Materials Branch of and standing 
council unit of China Electronic Materials Industry Association, Household 
Photovoltaic Professional Committee unit, Standardization Technical 
Committee unit and Photoelectric Building Professional Committee 
unit of China Photovoltaic Industry Association and expert member of 
Photovoltaic Professional Committee of China Renewable Energy Society. 
Solar photovoltaic modules are rated as national grade’s green design 
products.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Operations Summary (Continued)

As at the end of December 2024, the total production capacity of our 
production bases was 10.2 GW of modules due to the production 
scale, the high-efficiency and high production capacity layout of the 
Group. Overall, the Group will demonstrate stronger comprehensive 
competitiveness and solid reputation, and further increase the market 
share of high quality but low-cost products.

Module businesses

The Group has been engaged in module production since 2009, and 
has accumulated rich experience and advanced production technology 
and process in monocrystalline module production. The monocrystalline 
products that the Group focuses on has not only become the mainstream 
in the market, but after years of development, it also further expanded 
and strengthened the deployment and sales of monocrystalline silicon 
high-efficiency module products such as N-type high-efficiency modules, 
large-format modules, zero busbar modules, flexible modules, offshore 
floating modules, multi busbar cell modules, all-black modules and other 
high-end products.

The current main base of the Group for monocrystalline module 
production is located in Yancheng, Jiangsu. In addition to relying on 
the various preferential investment supporting policies from the local 
government, the Company can take advantage of significantly lowering 
the investment in capital expenditure by renting plant buildings, 
rental subsidies, equipment investment subsidies, sales contribution 
incentives, etc. Moreover, the area around the Yangtze River Delta is an 
agglomeration area for the supply of raw and auxiliary materials which 
provides advantage in terms of procurement. In order to meet the needs 
of module customers, the Group has expanded and upgraded module 
production capacity in Yancheng, Jiangsu, to maintain the advanced 
stage of the production lines and further strengthen the economic 
scale advantage of module products. As of the end of December 2024, 
the module production capacity of the production base in Yancheng, 
Jiangsu was 8.3 GW, while the total module production capacity of the 
Group was 10.2 GW. Through the completion of the layout of high-
efficiency production capacity, it has begun to show stronger overall 
competitiveness and reduction in the production costs, and led to obvious 
market benefits and customer supports.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Operations Summary (Continued)

Module businesses (Continued)

External sales of modules were mainly made to large state-owned 
enterprises and international multinational enterprises, such as State 
Power Investment Corporation ( ) (“SPIC”), 
SHARP Corporation (“SHARP”), Xinyi Glass Holdings Limited and Xinyi 
Solar Group ( ), Sungrow Power Supply Co., 
Ltd ( ), China General Nuclear Power Corporation, 
Xinhua Hydropower Company Limited, China Green Development, 
Dongfang Electric Corporation, Trina Solar and Astronergy etc. The Group 
has been cooperating with these enterprises in continually expanding 
module sales for domestic and foreign customers.

The Group focuses on the manufacturing of monocrystalline silicon 
photovoltaic products. Further, the Group has also introduced SHARP’s 
global leading 40-year quality assurance system for photovoltaic products. 
The quality of the products is stable and reliable, which could bring long-
term and stable income to end-user owners in the economic efficiency of 
photovoltaic power generation.

Construction and operation of photovoltaic system business

Apart from devoting its efforts in stabilising the development of its 
manufacturing business, the Group has been actively expanding the end-
user power plants construction and application business which not only 
drives the sales of module products in a bottom-up manner, but also it 
will spread the profits of construction and operation of the photovoltaic 
system businesses, so as to bring additional revenue and improve the 
overall profitability of the Group. The Group’s photovoltaic system 
business includes traditional distributed power station EPC business, 
Building Applied Photovoltaics (BAPV) business and Building Integrated 
Photovoltaics (BIPV) business. With the national policy background of the 
PRC government’s vigorous advocacy of “carbon emissions peaking”, 
“carbon neutrality”, the construction of “green buildings”, “zero energy 
buildings”, “green building standards” and the implementation of 
rooftop distributed photovoltaic development program after “Opinions 
on Promoting Green Development of Urban and Rural Construction” 
issued by the State Council of the PRC, “Work Plan of Accelerating the 
Promotion of Energy Conservation and Carbon Emissions Reduction in 
the Construction Sector” jointly formulated by National Development 
and Reform Commission and Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural 
Development, and the “Notice on the Pilot Scheme of Country-wide 
(City, District) Distributed Rooftop Project” published by the National 
Energy Administration, taking into account of the current huge building 
volume and a massive amount of promising and potential distributed 
photovoltaic generation capacity for the development in the PRC, the 
Group anticipates that BIPV business would have broad development 
prospects, especially in the customized BIPV crystalline silicon modules for 
curtain walls and zero-carbon mobile buildings that can operate off-grid, 
and will continue to enjoy the benefits from the long-term growth of the 
photovoltaic industry.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Construction and operation of photovoltaic system business 
(Continued)

Benefiting from the comprehensive R&D and rich technological 
experience accumulated in the photovoltaic industry while strengthening 
industry-university-research cooperation, the Group formally signed an 
industry-school cooperation agreement in the past with the School of 
Architecture, School of Civil Engineering and Architectural Design Institute 
of Southeast University, and it will cooperate with Southeast University 
to establish a BIPV research and development line to conduct in-depth 
research and development in the field of zero-carbon buildings and 
BIPV monocrystalline silicon in Nanjing city and Yancheng city, Jiangsu 
province with a view to enhancing the photoelectric conversion efficiency 
of BIPV module and lower the production costs, and actively leading the 
formulation and development of national and industrial standards of 
BIPV in the area of zero-carbon green buildings. At the same time, the 
industry-university-research base cooperated by the two parties will also 
become the postgraduate teaching place of the School of Architecture 
and School of Civil Engineering of Southeast University. In addition, the 
Group is carrying out a series of research and development projects in 
cooperation with the National Housing and Residential Environment 
Engineering Technology Research Center for BIPV structural components 
and other areas. The BIPV structural components have obtained more 
than 20 patent authorizations which will further enhance the Group’s 
market competitiveness and technical strength. Moreover, the zero-
carbon mobile building products independently developed by the Group 
integrate prefabricated buildings with customized photovoltaics and 
energy storage, enabling off-grid energy operation and self-sufficiency 
in electricity. These products fill the current gap in China’s domestic 
market. The Group is taking the lead in formulating association standards 
for zero-carbon buildings and zero-carbon stations and determining 
the technical specifications for the products. The Group expects that, 
with the continuous development of BIPV business in the building 
photovoltaic market and more emergence of new scenarios application, 
the photovoltaic system construction and application business, and green 
building consultancy services for large public projects would experience 
further healthy growth.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Semi-conductor business

The PRC market is the world’s largest semiconductor application market. 
The Group is engaged mainly in the production and sales of 6–8 inches 
semiconductor grade monocrystalline silicon ingot with heavy doping 
(including arsenic, antimony, phosphorus and boron products which are 
at the leading level of the industry) and 6–8 inches semiconductor grade 
monocrystalline silicon ingot with lightly doping. In 2024, due to severe 
competition in the electronics market in China, the price of semiconductor 
monocrystalline silicon has dropped. Despite the price decline, there was 
a significant turnaround from loss to profit compared to the year ended 
31 December 2023, and the gross profit margin of the semiconductor 
business has still improved, primarily due to strengthening internal 
management, reducing costs and increasing efficiency, and improving 
the quality and yield of semiconductor monocrystalline silicon. The Group 
expects that in the context of the growth of the Chinese semiconductor 
market in the long run, the semiconductor business will maintain growth 
in the future and contribute profits to the Group. With the planned 
increase in the Group’s research and development, and production of 
multiple varieties of 8-inches semiconductor monocrystalline silicon for 
integrated circuit and 13–15-inches semiconductor monocrystalline silicon 
in 2025 in order to meet the demand of chip market, the Group is fully 
prepared for the next round of growth cycle.

Operation Strategy

Owing to the continuous advancement of photovoltaic production 
technology and cost-efficiency improvement, the production cost per 
watt of photovoltaic power generation has dropped sharply. At present, 
the photovoltaic applications have reached the target of grid parity 
in many regions, and photovoltaic power generation has surpassed 
hydropower to become China’s second largest power generating source. 
With acceleration in the process for photovoltaic industry to move from 
grid parity to low-price, demand growth in the downstream photovoltaic 
installation has become an inevitable trend for photovoltaic industry 
development. In the premises, production related equipment also needs 
to be upgraded in order to be in line with technological advancement 
and to improve production efficiency. Therefore, the Group has been 
investing in upgrading and transforming existing production capacity and 
facility, and invest in low-cost, high-efficiency new production capacity. 
Mass output by comprehensive upgrade of production capacity and 
facility, and new high-efficiency production capacity have also been 
realised accordingly.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Operation Strategy (Continued)

By adopting a core product strategy of continuous development of the 
Group’s module product portfolio, the Group effectively concentrates on 
and utilises its existing resources and capacities. Since our photovoltaic 
module customers are mostly domestic state-owned enterprises or large 
multinational corporations, the market position and strength possessed 
by these module customers are the strongest in the overall photovoltaic 
industry chain. Therefore, the Group has established a direct supply 
relationship with large module customers through significant module 
production capacity and low cost and high quality advantages to enhance 
its market presence, which maintains a more stable module product 
estuary.

Operating Performance

In 2024, the whole photovoltaic industry in China faced unprecedented 
challenges and underwent significant adjustments.  Many key players 
in the industry incurred significant losses due to the supply-demand 
imbalances and excessive competition.  The Group as one of the major 
manufacturers of photovoltaic modules also recorded a decrease in 
revenue and a loss. It is because of the negative impact of the significant 
decrease in photovoltaic module prices as a result of the over-capacity of 
photovoltaic module production in the industry and fierce competition. 
The Group will continue to strive to enhance its competitive advantages.

During the year, the total external shipment volume of the Group’s 
major products, photovoltaic modules decreased from 6,683.1MW in 
2023 to 4,576.2MW in 2024. Due to the overall oversupply across the 
entire photovoltaic industry chain, industry players engaged in fierce 
competition by rapidly lowering prices to gain market share. This led to 
a significant decline in the selling prices of upstream, midstream, and 
downstream photovoltaic products, falling below cost. As a result, the 
Group’s main product, photovoltaic modules, was also affected, leading 
to a reduction in external shipment volume.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Operating Performance (Continued)

The Group is devoted to the development and sales of monocrystalline 
high-efficiency module products, such as N-type TOPCon modules, large-
format modules, zero busbar modules, rectangular modules, N-type 
heterojunction with intrinsic thin layer (HJT) modules, flexible modules, 
offshore floating modules, multi busbar Black Solar (“BS”) module, 
and related high-end products. Besides, the module production line 
of the Group can also produce multi-busbar single or double glass of 
182 mm/210 mm/182R/210R large-format modules, the module power 
of which can reach up more than 730 watts. In addition, the related 
equipment automated intelligence and packaging technology are in 
the leading position in the industry. In addition, for the 54-cell all-black 
module products, the modules are packaged with all-black materials. 
Taking into account the consistency and aesthetics of the module 
appearance, the module itself is guaranteed to be completely black, 
and there is zero module-to-module colour difference to naked eye. All-
black modules enhance product diversification and improve product 
competitive advantages. At present, there is an obvious trend towards 
the iteration of large-format modules. The market share of 182mm and 
210mm modules far exceeds that of other small-size modules, and have 
become the mainstream product size. Other small-size specifications are 
basically no longer sold in large quantities. Since the Group’s photovoltaic 
module production lines can all produce large-size products such as 182 
mm and 210 mm products which are mainstream products in the market, 
they could further enhance the Group’s ability to increase the shipment 
volume and provide opportunity for an increase in gross profit margin. 
Moreover, the Group is also carrying out a number of research projects 
for N-type HJT technology, perovskite technology, BIPV products, offshore 
floating modules and flexible modules, aiming to upgrade the mass 
production technology of the abovementioned products, so as to expand 
the market sales of corresponding products and remain the operational 
resilience and competitiveness of the Group in the market.
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Operation Review (Continued)
Operating Performance (Continued)

Going forward, given (a) further improved products efficacy and quality, 
leading technological cost advantages and large-size product lines with 
higher bargaining power, the Group will be able to gain market share; 
(b) in respect of the Group’s major production base, with more favorable 
production environment with the strong support from the government 
policies and subsidies, the Group will be able to reduce the production 
costs; (c) the Group continues to maintain low-cost, high-efficiency 
production capacity and facility through more refined and smoother 
production process and operations, and optimised production and 
logistics processes, and stable operation, which can further demonstrate 
the advantages of economies of scale and the operational synergies, 
such as lower procurement, logistics and production costs; (d) the long-
standing diversified and accumulated technological advantages of various 
product lines and product differentiation and innovation; (e) adopting a 
flexible sales and marketing strategy to accelerate inventory turnover and 
adjusting the inventory levels for the purpose of maintaining a balance 
between sales and production; and (f) the strong client base in the PRC 
and overseas, it is expected that the decrease in the market photovoltaic 
module prices will be gradually stabilised given the gradual slowdown 
in over-capacity of photovoltaic module production and the expected 
growth in the downstream photovoltaic installation demand. Regarding 
the Group’s business performance in the long-term prospects, the room 
for future improvement remains high.

Financial Review
Revenue

The revenue of the Group decreased by 48.5% from approximately 
RMB7,192.9 mil l ion for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 
approximately RMB3,706.2 million for the year. The decrease in revenue 
was due to a reduction in the external shipping volume of photovoltaic 
modules and a sharp decline in photovoltaic module prices. The significant 
decrease in photovoltaic module prices was due to the over-capacity of 
photovoltaic module production in the industry and fierce competition, 
and due to the overall oversupply across the entire photovoltaic industry 
chain, as a result of which industry players engaged in fierce competition 
by rapidly lowering prices to gain market share. This led to a significant 
decline in the selling prices of upstream, midstream, and downstream 
photovoltaic products, falling below cost. As a result, the Group’s main 
product, photovoltaic modules, was also affected, leading to reduced 
external shipment volume.
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Financial Review (Continued)
Cost of sales

Cost of sales for the year has decreased from approximately RMB6,734.9 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately 
RMB3,602.2 million for the year. The decrease was mainly due to a 
reduction in the external shipping volume of photovoltaic modules and in 
line with the decrease in revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB104.0 million 
and a gross profit margin of 2.8% for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
as compared to a gross profit of approximately RMB458.0 million and 
a gross profit margin of 6.4% in 2023, which decreased by 77.3% and 
3.6% points respectively. The decrease was mainly due to a sharp decline 
in photovoltaic module prices.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised business promotion 
expenses, packaging expenses and other incidental expenses. Selling 
and distribution expenses decreased to RMB75.2 million in 2024 from 
RMB100.6 million in 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease 
in photovoltaic module prices, which affected the estimated warranty 
obligations. This led to a reversal of warranty provisions in 2024, whereas 
provisions for warranty were made in 2023.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised of staff costs, research and 
development expenses and daily office expenses. The administrative 
expenses for the year amounted to approximately RMB220.0 million, 
as compared to approximately RMB279.0 million in 2023. The decrease 
was mainly because the Group enhanced efforts to increase operational 
efficiency, strict control costs, and reduce overall headcount.

Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables and 
contract assets

Loss allowances for trade receivables are measured at an amount equal 
to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECLs”). ECLs on trade receivables 
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors 
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic 
conditions. During the year, the Group has efficiently managed the 
collection of trade receivables, which led to a relatively lower ECL rates 
in the ECL model. As a result, a reversal of impairment losses on trade 
receivables and contract assets of RMB3.5 million (2023: reversal of 
impairment losses of RMB12.7 million) was recognised during the year.
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Financial Review (Continued)
Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment

An impairment loss of approximately RMB107.9 million for property, 
plant, and equipment was recorded in 2024 (2023: Nil) due to the 
recoverable amount being lower than the carrying amount of property, 
plant, and equipment.

Finance costs

Finance costs were mainly derived from bank and other borrowings. 
The Group’s finance costs decreased from RMB71.1 million in 2023 to 
RMB60.0 million in 2024. The Group is aiming to lower the finance costs 
gradually in the future and to obtain more sources of financing.

Income tax

Income tax credit amounted to approximately RMB5.2 million in 2024, 
as compared to income tax expense of approximately RMB15.5 million in 
the 2023. The income tax credit for the year was mainly derived from the 
recognition of deferred tax assets of the Group. The decrease in income 
tax expenses was mainly due to a decrease in the assessable profit of 
certain subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China.

Loss attributable to owners of the parent

Loss attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB227.1 
million for the year, as compared to the profit attributable to owners of 
the parent of approximately RMB111.9 million in 2023 mainly due to 
decrease in revenue and gross profit.

Inventory turnover days

Due to a reduction in the external shipping volume of photovoltaic 
modules, the inventory turnover days of the year increased to 35 days (31 
December 2023: 24 days).

Trade receivable turnover days

The sales of photovoltaic modules accounted for over 95% of the 
Group’s overall sales for the year. According to the standard terms of 
the industry’s module sales contracts, the recovery of certain module 
receivables depends on the construction progress of the photovoltaic 
power plant. For instance, some trade receivables can only be recovered 
after the customer’s photovoltaic power plant is connected to the grid. 
Therefore, the trade receivables turnover days of module business 
are generally longer. Trade receivables turnover days for the year has 
increased to 193 days (31 December 2023: 94 days) due to the settlement 
delay by some customers. The Group did not experience any significant 
credit risks due to strict credit control policies.
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Financial Review (Continued)
Trade payable turnover days

The trade payables turnover day was 205 days for the year, which was 
significantly higher when compared to 168 days as at 31 December 2023. 
The Group would like to utilise its operating funds in a more strategic 
manner for business growth. Under stable and frequent co-operations, 
the suppliers have increased our credit lines and payment terms.

Liquidity and financial resources

The principal sources of working capital of the Group during the year 
were cash flow from operating activities. As at 31 December 2024, the 
current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group 
was 1.2 (31 December 2023: 1.1). The Group had net borrowings of 
RMB172.5 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB–

712.5 million), including cash and cash equivalents of RMB270.7 million 
(31 December 2023: RMB578.4 million), pledged deposits of RMB511.0 
million (31 December 2023: RMB1,358.0 million), bank and other 
loans due within one year of RMB952.7 million (31 December 2023: 
RMB1,195.7 million) and non-current bank and other loans of RMB1.5 
million (31 December 2023: RMB28.2 million). The net debt to equity 
ratio (net debt divided by total equity) as at 31 December 2024 was 
17.9% (31 December 2023: -59.7%).

Net cash inflow from operating activities

The operating activities resulted in a net cash inflow of approximately 
RMB180.9 mill ion in 2024, compared to a net cash outflow of 
approximately RMB692.1 million in 2023. The main reasons for the net 
cash inflow from operating activities is the reduction in trade receivables 
and the release of pledged deposits due to the Group’s settlement of 
trade payables.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation

During the year, the Group’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation (“EBITDA”) were approximately RMB-11.2 million 
(-0.3% of the revenue) (2023  approximately RMB387.0 million, 
5.4% of the revenue). The main reason for the decrease in EBITDA was 
attributable to the decrease in revenue and gross profit during the year.
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Financial Review (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and 
purchases, cash, bank deposits and bank loans that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency, Renminbi, of the operations 
to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 
the US Dollar and Euro. The Directors do not expect any significant impact 
from the change in exchange rates since the Group uses trade receivables 
in foreign currencies received from foreign customers to settle foreign 
loans and trade payables in foreign currencies which naturally mitigates 
the exchange rate risk. In addition, the Group will consider the difference 
in interest rates and fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currency 
denominated and local currency-denominated loan balance, and seize 
opportunities to mitigate the risk through low-risk forward exchange 
agreements, in order to strike a balance between the exposure to the 
variations in interest costs and fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Significant investments, material acquisition or disposal of 
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures

The Group did not have any significant investment, material acquisitions 
or disposals of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures 
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent 
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

Human resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 2,097 employees (31 December 
2023: 2,887 employees).
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Business Outlook
With years of technological advancements and cost reductions, coupled 
with the introduction of and the continued favourable policies by the 
government of various countries to lead the energy industry’s transition 
from traditional fossil energy sources to renewable energy sources, the 
photovoltaic power generation has entered a comprehensive market-
oriented development stage. In recent years, affected by factors such as 
the imbalance in market supply and demand, upstream, midstream and 
downstream companies in the photovoltaic industry have faced severe 
challenges. Especially in 2024, the unit selling price of products across 
various segments of the industry chain was lower than the unit cost for 
a long time. This situation has caused the financial performance of many 
companies in the industry chain to decline sharply, with many of these 
companies suffering heavy losses.

In the face of industry difficulties, the PRC government has promoted 
market adjustments through policies, encouraged the development of 
high-efficiency photovoltaic cell technology, and supported companies 
to avoid trade barriers by building factories overseas and acquiring local 
companies in order to promote the healthy and sustainable development 
of the photovoltaic industry. At the same time, the industry is also taking 
active actions. The China Photovoltaic Industry Association organised a 
“Symposium on Preventing Involution and Vicious Competition in the 
Industry” on 14 October 2024, and organised 33 leading photovoltaic 
companies to sign the industry’s “Self-Discipline Pact” on 5 December 
2024. It also called on manufacturing companies to practically follow the 
requirements of the Political Bureau meeting of the Central Committee of 
the Communist Party of China on 30 July 2024 to “strengthen industry 
self-discipline and prevent ‘involution’ competition”, participate in market 
competition in compliance with laws and regulations, refrain from selling 
and bidding below cost, and guide industry prices back to rationality. 
Since then, more and more companies in the industry have joined the 
“Self-Discipline Pact” and worked together to maintain market order.

In addition, with the further digestion of photovoltaic inventories in 
Europe and other regions in 2024, overseas main photovoltaic market 
demand is expected to gradually resume stable growth in 2025; and 
emerging incremental photovoltaic markets such as the Middle East and 
Africa are rapidly expanding, becoming a new growth point for the global 
photovoltaic market. As a key force in the global energy transformation, 
the photovoltaic industry still has huge long-term development potential, 
and the core elements supporting the upward development of the 
industry have not been changed. With the continuous breakthroughs in 
science and technology and the gradual standardization of the market, 
the industry will surely usher in a new round of growth cycle.

33
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Business Outlook (Continued)
Against this background, the Group will build core competitiveness 
through deepened strategic synergy and technological innovation, and 
adjust the approaches for domestic and foreign markets. In the domestic 
market, the Group will strengthen strategic cooperation with leading 
central enterprises, expedite the research and mass production application 
of next generation high-efficiency module technologies such as zero 
busbar (0BB) and back contact (BC), and further drive cost reduction 
and efficiency enhancement. For international market, the Group will 
implement the two-wheeled drive of “key customers + localization”. 
On the one hand, the Group will continue to consolidate strategic 
cooperation with overseas key customers. On the other hand, the Group 
will accelerate the construction of overseas sales networks focusing on 
exploring the markets in Southeast Asia and Central and Eastern Europe. 
Concurrently, a robust risk system should be established to deal with 
price fluctuations, policy and technology risks, laying the foundation for 
the rebalancing of industry supply and demand and the realization of 
technology dividends. With the deepening of the “dual carbon” goal 
and the acceleration of global energy transformation, the photovoltaic 
industry will embrace even broader development space. The Directors 
firmly believe that with the joint efforts of all employees of the Group, 
the Group will be able to navigate the industry cycle and write a new 
chapter of high-quality development with new quality productive forces.

Event after Reporting Period
At the date of this annual report, there are no important events affecting 
the Group which has occurred since 31 December 2024.

Audit Committee
The Company’s Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles 
and practices adopted by the Group and the Group’s consolidated 
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2024, and has discussed 
and reviewed the risk management, internal control and reporting 
matters.

(0BB) (BC)

+
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Dividend
No final dividend was paid in 2024 (2023: Nil). The Directors do not 
recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2024 (2023: Nil).

Closure of Register of Members
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 5 June 2025 
to 10 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer 
of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, all transfers 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the 
branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare 
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712– 1716, 17th Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later 
than 4:30 p.m. on 4 June 2025.

183 17 1712–16
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Overview

The board of Directors (the “Board”) strives to attain and maintain 

high standards of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate 

governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards. This 

report outlines the principles and the code provisions set out in the 

Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), as contained in Appendix C1 

of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which 

have been adopted by the Group.

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit 

Committee”) in compliance with the Code to oversee the financial 

reporting procedures and internal controls of the Group so as to ensure 

compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company has also established 

a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and a 

remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) (collectively, 

the “Board Committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of 

reference of the Board Committees have been posted on the websites of 

Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Group has implemented a compliance manual which covers areas 

such as ongoing compliance obligations of the Company and the 

Directors, business operations of the Group, financial management 

systems, human resources management systems, internal control systems, 

quality assurance and property management systems. In the opinion of 

the Board, all the code provisions set out in the Code were met by the 

Company throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

Corporate Culture and Strategy

Corporate strategy defines the goals, while corporate culture is the 

driving force that enables the achievement of those goals. A strong, 

value-driven culture empowers teams to act with purpose, adapt with 

agility, and collaborate effectively. 

The Board believes that when people feel empowered, supported, and 

connected to a shared purpose, extraordinary things happen. The Group’s 

vision to be a leading manufacturer of photovoltaic modules in the 

industry is grounded in its commitment to deliver the most economical 

and practical solutions.

C1
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Corporate Culture and Strategy (continued)

To realise this mission, the Board, with the assistance of the human 

resources department, actively instils and promotes the following core 

cultural values in its workforce: 

• Passion for Excellence: pursuing growth and continuous learning of 

its staff members for the most knowledgeable talent generation; 

• Economy: providing customers with the most economical and 

practical products; and 

• Reliability: treasuring service excellence, having pride in the product 

quality and ensuring commitments are fulfilled. 

These core cultural values guide the Group’s strategy, ensuring 

continuous growth, innovation, and service excellence. The Board 

believes that these core cultural values are aligned with the Group’s vision 

and mission, fostering a commitment to lifelong learning, cost-effective 

solutions, and unwavering dedication to quality, and are the cornerstones 

of the Group’s success.

Compliance with the Model Code for  
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 

Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 

of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions entered into 

by Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors 

and all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required 

standards as set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding 

Directors’ securities transactions throughout the financial year ended 31 

December 2024.
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(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

The Board of Directors

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the 

Company, including the formulation and approval of overall business 

strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and monitoring 

the performance of the management team. The Directors have the 

responsibility to act objectively in the interests of the Company. The 

Directors also assume the following responsibilities for corporate 

governance as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Code:

(a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on 

corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 

development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 

compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; 

and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and disclosure in 

the Corporate Governance Report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises seven Directors, including 

three executive Directors: Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman), Mr. TAN Xin 

(Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. WANG Junze, one non-executive 

Director: Mr. HSU You Yuan, and three independent non-executive 

Directors: Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang and 

Ms. TAN Ying. The names and biographical details of the Directors are 

set out in the section entitled “Directors, Company Secretary and Senior 

Management Profile” in the annual report. The Board has a strong 

independent element in its composition with over half of the board 

members being non-executive Directors to ensure that all decisions 

of the Board are made in the best interest of the Group’s long-term 

development.
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The Board of Directors (continued)

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives 

appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The Board 

will regularly review the contribution required from a Director to perform 

his or her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is 

spending sufficient time performing them that are commensurate with 

their role and the Board responsibilities. 

The Board has delegated various responsibi l i t ies to the Board 

Committees. Further details of these committees are set out below “Board 

Committees” section.

Board Meetings

The Company holds Board meetings regularly, at least four times a 

year at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also 

be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the 

operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board 

meeting will be sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular 

Board meeting. Reasonable notices will be given to the Directors for 

ad-hoc Board meetings. Board papers together with all appropriate, 

complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days 

before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors 

apprised of the latest developments, financial position of the Company 

and to enable them to make informed decisions. Each Director also has 

separate and independent access to the senior management whenever 

necessary. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic 

means of communications. The Company will provide relevant materials 

to all the Directors relating to the matters brought before the meetings. 

All the Directors will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge 

their duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to 

seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the 

Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to include 

matters in the agenda for Board meetings.
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3.13

Board Meetings (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 5 Board meetings and 

1 Shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual 

Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Directors
Board

meetings
Shareholders

meeting
   

Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) 5/5 1/1
Mr. TAN Xin 5/5 1/1
Mr. WANG Junze 5/5 1/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 5/5 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 5/5 1/1
Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang 5/5 1/1
Ms. TAN Ying 5/5 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors possess a wealth of professional 

and industry expertise and management experience and have provided 

their professional advices to the Board. They have played a significant 

role in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their 

views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. In particular, 

they bring impartial views to the Board on issues of the Company’s 

strategy, performance and control. The Board also considers that 

independent non-executive Directors provide independent advice on 

the Company’s business strategy, results and management so that 

all interests of shareholders are taken into consideration, and the 

interests of the Company and its shareholders are taken into account 

in all business decisions. The Company has received from each of the 

independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her 

independence pursuant to the criteria Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The 

Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are 

independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Any re-election of an independent non-executive Director who has served 

the Board for more than nine years, his/her further appointment should 

be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.

Where an individual is proposed to be elected as an Independent Non-

executive Director at the general meeting, the circular to shareholders 

and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant 

general meeting will include:

• the process used for identifying the individual and why the Board 

believes the individual should be elected and the reasons why it 

considers the individual to be independent;

• if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be holding 

their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, why the Board 

believes the individual would still be able to devote sufficient time 

to the Board;

• the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can bring 

to the Board; and

• how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert has served as an Independent Non-

executive Director of the Company for more than ten years. As an 

independent non-executive Director with extensive experience and 

knowledge and in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations 

and business, he has expressed objective views and given independent 

guidance to the Company over the past years, and he continue to 

demonstrate a firm commitment to their role.

The Nomination Committee and the Board consider that the long 

service of Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert would not affect his exercise 

of independent judgement and is satisfied that Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, 

Albert has the required character, integrity and experience to continue 

fulfilling the role of an independent non-executive Director.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of 
Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua has been appointed as an executive Director for a 

specific term of three years commencing from 21 June 2023. Mr. TAN 

Xin and Mr. WANG Junze have been appointed as an executive Director 

for a specific term of three years commencing from 21 June 2023 and 12 

June 2024 respectively. Such terms are subject to re-appointment by the 

Company at an annual general meeting upon retirement.

Mr. HSU You Yuan has been appointed as non-executive Director for a 

specific term of three years commencing from 12 June 2024. Such terms 

are subject to re-appointment by the Company at an annual general 

meeting upon retirements.

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert has been appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director for a specific term of three years commencing 

from 21 June 2023, Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang and Ms. TAN Ying have 

been appointed as an independent non-executive Director for a specific 

term of three years commencing from 12 June 2024 and 21 June 2023 

respectively. Such terms are subject to retirement by rotation and re-

election in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal of 
Directors (continued)

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, 

Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. TAN Xin, both being an executive Directors, 

Mr. HSU You Yuan, being a non-executive Director and Ms. TAN Ying, 

being an independent non-executive Director, will retire by rotation at 

the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. HSU 

You Yuan have informed the Board of their intention not to seek for re-

election and will retire from the Board with effect from conclusion of the 

annual general meeting. Mr. TAN Xin and Ms. TAN Ying, being eligible, 

will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Training and Professional Development

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors 

should participate in continuous professional development to develop and 

refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors have been given relevant 

guideline materials to ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes 

in the commercial, legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the 

Company’s businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the 

roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors had provided a record of training they received during the 

year to the Company. According to the training records provided by the 

Directors, the trainings attended by them during the reporting period is 

summarised as follows:

Directors

Trainings on 
corporate 

governance 
and regulatory 

development
  

Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) ✓

Mr. TAN Xin ✓

Mr. WANG Junze ✓

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert ✓

Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang ✓

Ms. TAN Ying ✓
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the Chairman 

and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) should be separated and should 

not be performed by the same individual.

The role of the Chairman was performed by Mr. TAN Wenhua. Mr. TAN 

Wenhua is an executive Director who is responsible for the management 

of the Board and he also involves in the day-to-day management of the 

Group’s business. The role of CEO is performed by Mr. TAN Xin.

Mr. TAN Wenhua is the father of Mr. TAN Xin. Save as disclosed, there 

was no financial, business, family or other material relationship among 

the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The overall management of the Company was performed by the CEO, 

executive Directors and senior management of the Company. The 

executive Directors (Mr. TAN Wenhua, Mr. TAN Xin and Mr. WANG 

Junze) who have extensive experience in the solar energy industry and 

their respective areas of profession, spearhead the Group’s overall 

development and business strategies.
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Board Committees
Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms 

of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of and Appendix 

C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee 

include overseeing the financial reporting processes and internal control 

procedures of the Group, reviewing the financial information of the 

Group and considering issues relating to the external auditor. Currently, 

the Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive 

Directors, namely, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman), Ms. CHUNG 

Wai Hang and Ms. TAN Ying.

In 2024, the Audit Committee met 2 times and the attendance of 

individual Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Name of Directors 

Attendance/
Number of

meetings
  

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) 2/2
Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang 2/2
Ms. TAN Ying 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and interim 

financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2024, including the 

accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and has also 

discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters with 

the management. The Audit Committee also monitored the Company’s 

progress in implementing the CG Code as required under the Listing 

Rules.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a 

resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant to Rules 

3.25 to 3.27 of and Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties 

of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to 

the Board on the Company’s structure for remuneration of Directors and 

senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent 

procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. Currently, the 

Remuneration Committee consists of four members; three of whom are 

independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. TAN Ying (Chairlady), 

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang, and one is an 

executive Director, namely, Mr. TAN Wenhua.

In 2024, the Remuneration Committee met once and the attendance of 

individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors

Attendance/
Number of

meeting
  

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. TAN Ying (Chairlady) 1/1
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 1/1
Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang 1/1

Executive Director
Mr. TAN Wenhua 1/1

The Remuneration Committee has made recommendations to the Board 

regarding the remuneration policy of the Company. In addition, it has 

also reviewed and approved management’s remuneration proposal and 

directors’ service contracts by reference to corporate goals and objectives 

resolved by the Board, and ensured that no Director or any of his/her 

associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a 

resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant to 

Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination 

Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the 

Company’s policy and structure for recruiting Directors and senior 

management and on the establishment of formal and transparent 

procedures for nomination procedures and process and criteria adopted 

by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates 

for directorship and senior management. Currently, the Nomination 

Committee consists of four members; three of whom are independent 

non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang (Chairlady), Dr. 

WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Mr. TAN Ying, and one is a non-executive 

Director, namely, Mr. HSU You Yuan.

In 2024, the Nomination Committee met once and the attendance of 

individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors

Attendance/
Number of

meeting
  

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang (Chairlady) 1/1
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 1/1
Ms. TAN Ying 1/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 1/1

The Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of 

independent non-executive Directors during the year. The Nomination 

Committee also considered and resolved that all the existing Directors 

shall be recommended to be retained by the Company.
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Board Committees (continued)

Board Diversity

The Board has a board diversity policy which is available on the 

Company’s website. In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives among 

members of the Board, it is the policy of the Company to consider a 

number of factors when deciding on appointments to the Board and the 

continuation of those appointments. Such factors include gender, age, 

cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, 

skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate interests of the 

Company’s principal shareholders. The Board considered the Company 

has achieved the objective of board diversity and gender diversity during 

the year.

The following graph provides an analysis on the composition of the Board 

as at the date of this report:
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INEDs – Independent Non-executive Director 

As of 31 December 2024, female representation on the Board is 

approximately 29%. The Board targets to maintain at least the current 

level of female representation and this target, along with other matters 

related to diversity, will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the workforce (including senior management) 

comprised of 36.6% female and 63.4% male. The Company is 

determined to and will continue to achieve and maintain gender diversity 

and equality in terms of the Board and the general workforce.
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Board Independence
The Company has mechanisms in place to ensure independent views 
are available to the Board. The Board endeavours to have a balanced 
composition of executive Directors and independent non-executive 
Directors to maintain a strong independent element on the Board and to 
bring independent view and inputs from the Directors. The majority of 
the members of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees 
are independent non-executive Directors and each committee is chaired 
by an independent non-executive Director.

The Nomination Committee shall assess the independence of the 
candidates who are to be appointed as independent non-executive 
Directors as well as the independent non-executive Directors who are to 
be re-elected with reference to the Independence Guidelines to ensure 
that they can exercise independent judgment and fulfil their roles as 
independent non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors shall not have any financial 
or family relationships with any other Directors, senior management, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Fees 
to independent non-executive Directors are in the form of cash payment 
with additional fees payable to reflect membership or chairmanship of 
the Board Committees. None of the independent non-executive Directors 
receives equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the 
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice 
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging 
their duties to the Company.

The Company’s mechanisms in ensuring the availability of independent 
views to the Board are kept under regular review (at least on an annual 
basis) to ensure their effectiveness. At the Board meeting, the Board 
conducted a review and considered that such mechanisms were properly 
implemented and were effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the chairman of the Board 
held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the 
presence of the other Directors, in which the independent non-executive 
Directors could share their views and raise any issues in the absence of 
other Directors and the management.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 

2024 are set out in note 9 to the  Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration 

of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors) 

whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors, 

Company Secretary and Senior Management” in this annual report for 

the year ended 31 December 2024 by band is set out in note 10 to the  

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-competition Undertaking

During the year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, none of the 

Directors nor their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) 

had any interest in a business that competed or might compete with the 

business of the Group.

Mr. TAN Wenhua has confirmed to the Company of his compliance with 

the non-competition undertakings provided to the Company under a 

non-competition undertaking dated 27 February 2008 (“Non-competition 

undertaking”). The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed 

the status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under 

the Non-competition undertaking had been complied with and duly 

enforced from 1 January 2024 and up to 31 December 2024.

Financial Reporting and Internal Control
Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Finance 
Department of the Company, is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements of the Company and the Group. In the preparation 
of financial statements, International Financial Reporting Standards/
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and 
the appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and 
applied. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment 
of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim reports to the 
shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and announcements in a 
timely manner.
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2,440,000
2,750,000  

204,000 256,000

Financial Reporting and Internal Control 
(continued)

Auditors’ Remuneration

The performance and remuneration of the external auditors of the 
Company, Ernst & Young, have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid and payable to 
Ernst & Young and other external auditors in respect of audit services 
amounted to approximately RMB2,440,000 (2023: RMB2,750,000). In 
addition, approximately RMB204,000 (2023: RMB256,000) was charged 
for other non-audit services.

Risk management and internal control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and the internal control 
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Company conducted 
regular review to monitor the Company’s internal management and 
operation during the year. Procedures have been designed to review 
the risk management functions and to ensure maintenance of proper 
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for 
internal use or for publication, ensure compliance of applicable laws, rules 
and regulations. The Company’s risk management and internal control 
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year, the Board supervised the management’s design, 
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal 
control systems, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
risk management and internal control systems of the Group; such review 
covered all major control aspects of the Group, including financial, 
operational and compliance controls.

The Group’s internal audit team plays an important role in monitoring 
the internal governance of the Company. The internal audit team mainly 
monitors and reviews the matters relating to the internal control and 
compliance of the Company, and provides regular risk-oriented internal 
audits for its subsidiaries. The internal audits cover sales, financial 
reporting and information security and so on. The internal audit team 
reports to the Board once a year. The review covered each of the twelve 
months of 2024.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control 
(continued)

Risk management and internal control (continued)

In order to fulfil their fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and 

diligence, the Directors will constantly seek advice and assistance from the 

Company’s internal legal team and if necessary, seek advice from external 

legal advisors in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Company also adopted 

internal control procedures relating to, among others, signing authority 

and procedures since February 2007. The Company has an Audit and 

Legal Department consisting 4 members with extensive experience in the 

legal field. The main duties of the Audit and Legal department include:

• providing legal advice on major business decisions

• reviewing and drafting legal documents

• handling legal disputes

• advising on legal issues related to daily operations

• conducting internal training for compliance matters

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board considered that the 

Group’s risk management and internal control systems are adequate and 

effective and the Company has complied with the CG Code in respect of 

risk management and internal control.

Whistleblowing, Anti-fraud and Anti-corruption Policy 

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standards of 

conduct and integrity. The Company encourages its employees and those 

who deal with it (e.g. customers, contractors and suppliers) to report 

concerns about any malpractice and impropriety that come to their 

attention. Whistleblowing, anti-fraud and anti-corruption policies are in 

place to set out reporting channels and guidance on reporting possible 

malpractice, impropriety, bribery and fraud to the Audit and Legal 

Department of the Company, who will review, investigate and follow up 

the case. Once cases are verified, investigation results will be announced 

within the Company as warning.

Directors’ responsibility on the financial statements

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, which were prepared 

in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company, Ernst 

& Young, on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set 

out in the section entitled “Independent Auditor’s Report” in the annual 

report.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control 
(continued)

Going concern

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events 

or conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern.

Investors Relations

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy with 

the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors 

are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and 

understandable information about the Company.

The Company places strong emphasis on its communications with 

investors, and considers that maintaining on-going and open 

communications with investors can promote investors’ understanding of 

and confidence in the Company. The Company disclosed all necessary 

balanced and understandable information to the Shareholders in 

compliance with the Listing Rules and met with media, securities analysts, 

fund managers and investors on a regular basis to respond to their 

enquiries so as to provide them with a clearer picture of the Company’s 

achievements in business, management, strategic goals and other 

aspects.

The general meeting of the Company is also an effective communication 

channel between the Board and Shareholders. The Company will meet 

with the Shareholders and respond to their enquiries in the general 

meetings. The executive Directors attended the annual general meeting 

of the Company held on 12 June 2024.

The Company has reviewed the shareholders communication policy 

conducted for the year ended 31 December 2024 and considered that 

the shareholders communication policy has been well implemented and 

effective.

Company Secretary
The company secretary of the Company is Mr. YEUNG Chi Tat whose 

biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors, 

Company Secretary and Senior Management Profile” in this annual 

report.

Mr. YEUNG Chi Tat has confirmed that he had attained no less than 15 

hours of relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 

2024, as required by Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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852 3416 2111

Shareholders’ Rights
Convening an extraordinary general meeting of the Company 
(“EGM”)

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, 

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less 

than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right 

of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have 

the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, 

to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 

business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held 

within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions 

at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Act (2011 

Revision) or the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders 

who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene 

a general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding 

paragraph.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by sending 

written notice of their proposals to the head office of the Company at 

the address or by facsimile via the number stated in the paragraph below.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post or by facsimile, 

together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or 

fax, addressing to the Board at the head office of the Company at the 

following address or facsimile number:

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited 

Room 1402, Harbour Centre

25 Harbour Road 

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Attention to: Board of Directors/Company Secretary 

Fax: 852 3416 2111

Changes to Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no significant 

change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these documents 

are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the 

Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should 

be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination 

of inside information are as follows:

• the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure 

requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on 

Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and 

Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

• the Group has implemented its policy on fair disclosure by 

pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to 

the public through channels such as financial reporting, public 

announcements and the Company’s website;

• the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential 

or inside information; and

• the Group has established and implemented procedures for 

responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that 

only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and the staff 

responsible for investor relations of the Company are authorised to 

communicate with parties outside the Group.
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Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua ( ), aged 68, is an executive Director and the 
Chairman of the Board. He was one of the founders of the Jinzhou 
Plants in 2001. He was conferred various honours including the Model 
for the Labour of the Nation, the medal of “May 1st” Labour of 
Liaoning Province, the Builders Merit award of Liaoning Province, the 
Outstanding Entrepreneur of the Building Materials Industry of the 
Nation, the Venture Entrepreneur of the Liaoning Province and First Prize 
Entrepreneur of Jinzhou. Prior to the founding of Jinzhou Plants, he 
was the Chairman of ( )  (Jinzhou 
Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.) and the Director of  
(Jinzhou 155 Factory), a state-owned factory engaging in quartz crucibles 
manufacturing. He has been granted a special subsidy by the State 
Council in 2004 for his contribution in engineering technology. He is the 
father of Mr. Tan Xin, the executive Director of the Company and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. TAN Xin ( ), aged 41, is an executive Director and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company. He holds a bachelor’s degree of 
Marketing from the Macau University of Science and Technology, and 
a master’s degree of Business Administration from University of East 
Anglia, the U.K. Mr. Tan is also the representative at the 11th and 
12th and executive committee member of the 13th member congress 
of the National Association of Industry and Commerce ( ), 
Representative at the 17th National Congress of the Communist Youth 
League ( ), the 14th Member of the CPPCC Liaoning Committee 
( ), Standing Committee Member of the 11th Liaoning 
Province Association of Industry and Commerce ( ), 
and the 12th and 13th Vice President of the Liaoning General Chamber 
of Commerce ( ), Standing member of the 10th,11th and 
12th Liaoning Province Youth Federation (

), Member of the 12th and Standing Member of the 13th Jinzhou 
Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Conference ( , ), the 
1st and 2nd President of the Jinzhou Youth Chamber of Commerce, and 
the Vice President of Hong Kong Federation of Liaoning Associations (

). Mr. Tan was awarded the Liaoning “Model 
Workers” ( ), the 4th Constructors’ Medal ( ), 
the “May 1st Labour Medal” ( ), “Excellent Entrepreneur” 
( ); the Jinzhou “Model Workers” ( ), “Meritorious 
Entrepreneur” ( ), “Technology Expert with Outstanding 
Contributions in Jinzhou” ( ); the Yancheng 
“Outstanding Entrepreneurs” ( ), “Industrial Powerful City 
– Outstanding Individual” ( ) and “Youth May 
Fourth Medal” ( ) and other honorary titles. Mr. Tan took 
up the position of Chief Executive Officer of the Group since October 
2016. Before taking the role of the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Tan also 
worked in other subsidiaries within the Group and accumulated plenty 
of experiences from his prior positions. He is also the Chairman of Qujing 
Yangguang New Energy Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 874147), a company 
listed on the Beijing Stock Exchange since 20 June 2024. He is the son of 
Mr. TAN Wenhua who is an executive Director and the Chairman of the 
Company.

68

41

(University of East Anglia)

874147
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Directors (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WANG Junze ( ), aged 53, is an executive Director of the 

Company. He joined the Company on 1 January 2007 and was the 

deputy general manager of China region, who was responsible for the 

accounting and finance matter of the Group. He obtained a Master of 

Business Administration from the State University of New Jersey (Rutgers). 

He is a certified public accountant in Maryland, the United States. Prior 

to joining the Group, he was a Special Assistant to President & Deputy 

Spokesman of The Office of General Manager of WWX, the Spokesman 

and Chief Financial Officer of Panram International Corp., a company 

listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan.

Non-executive Director

Mr. HSU You Yuan ( ), aged 70, is a non-executive Director 

of the Company. He joined the Group on 6 February 2007 and was 

appointed an executive Director on the same date. He graduated with 

a master degree in Business Administration from the Chinese Culture 

University in 1980. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hsu was the Managing 

Director of Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX”) from 1998 to 2003 and later 

became the Vice-Chairman of WWX in 2003. WWX is a manufacturer of 

silicon wafer for the semiconductor industry and is listed on the Gre Tai 

Securities Market in Taiwan in 2002. He was the managing director of 

Silicon Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp. and was appointed the 

Chief Executive Officer of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp. 

In March 2006, he was appointed a director and he was subsequently 

appointed as the Chairman of the board of Jinzhou Youhua in September 

2006. Mr. Hsu’s previous work credentials also include acting as 

Deputy General Manager of Mosel Vitelic Inc., a company listed on the 

Taiwan Stock Exchange and as a director and Executive Vice-President 

of Mosel Vitelic (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of Mosel Vitelic Inc. 

Mr. Hsu had also made contributions to non-commercial sectors in 

the past. He served as a researcher, a deputy director, and the director 

of Business Department of the Executive Yuan Development Fund of 

Taiwan (Note: Executive Yuan Development Fund is now known as 

National Development Fund, Executive Yuan). He was also a lecturer of 

Statistics and Managerial Mathematics for the Business Administration 

department at the Chinese Culture University. Mr. Hsu has been an 

independent nonexecutive director of China Shanshui Cement Group 

Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange, since September 2018. He has been a president of Little Aid 

from Everyone Association ( ) from January 2021 to January 

2024. 
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert ( ), aged 73, has been appointed 

as an Independent non-executive Director of the Company since 12 

January 2008. Dr. Wong holds a Doctor of Philosophy in Business 

Administration degree from the Bulacan State University, Republic of the 

Philippines. He is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute, 

The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, The Taxation Institute 

of Hong Kong, Association of International Accountants, The Institute 

of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and Society of Registered Financial 

Planners. He is a member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment 

Institute, The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and The Chartered 

Institute of Bankers in Scotland and a full member of Macau Society of 

Certified Practising Accountants.

Dr. Wong is currently the Principal Consultant of KND Associates CPA 

Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of each of 

APAC Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1104), China Merchants Land 

Limited (Stock Code: 978), Tian An Medicare Limited (Stock Code: 383), 

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 6966) and Dexin 

Services Group Limited (Stock Code: 2215). These five companies are 

listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong 

was an independent non-executive director of Dexin China Holdings 

Company Limited (“Dexin China”) between 11 January 2019 up to 11 

June 2024 immediately before the winding up order was granted by 

the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against 

Dexin China. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14 

June 2024 for further details. He was also an independent non-executive 

director of Capital Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8239), a 

company listed on GEM board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, 

between January 2018 and December 2021, and China VAST Industrial 

Urban Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 6166), a company 

previously listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 

until 6 December 2022, between August 2014 and December 2022.

Dr. Wong is an Independent non-executive Director of the Company 

and has served on the Board for more than 10 years. As an Independent 

Non-executive Director with extensive experience and knowledge and 

in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations and business, Dr. 

Wong has expressed objective views and given independent guidance to 

the Company over the past years. He continues to demonstrate a firm 

commitment to his role.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Pursuant to code provision B.3.4 of the Corporate Governance Code as 

set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination Committee 

and the Board consider that Dr. Wong, being a Certified Public 

Accountant, is able to complement the professional background of the 

composition of the Board in terms of expertise in accounting and financial 

reporting. Notwithstanding Dr. Wong holds various company directorships 

in listed companies in Hong Kong, he devoted sufficient time in fulfilling 

his role in the Company. During the past year, he attended and actively 

participated in the discussions in all the Board meetings and committee 

meetings which he was eligible to attend.

The Nomination Committee and the Board consider that the long service 

of Dr. Wong would not affect his exercise of independent judgment 

and are satisfied that Dr. Wong has the required character, integrity and 

experience to continue fulfilling the role of an Independent Non-executive 

Director and consider Dr. Wong to be independent.

Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang ( ), aged 55, an Independent non-

executive Director of the Company. She joined the Group and was 

appointed as an Independent non-executive Director on 11 July 2022. She 

holds a bachelor’s degree of Social Science from Lingnan University and 

a master’s degree of Science in International Real Estate with distinction 

from Royal Agricultural University, United Kingdom. Ms. Chung has been 

an independent non-executive director of Dynasty Fine Wines Group 

Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange, since December 2023. Ms. Chung has about 30 years of 

working experiences in private enterprises and listed companies in Hong 

Kong, and has led one of the Hong Kong companies with manufacturing 

plants in Mainland China to carry out business development and general 

management. She has professional knowledge in real estate development 

and corporate governance, and practical experiences in domestic and 

overseas investment, asset and portfolio management and valuation in 

the past 10 years. She is a life member of The Hong Kong Independent 

Non-Executive Director Association.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. TAN Ying ( ), aged 59, is an Independent non-executive 
Director of the Company. She joined the Group and was appointed 
as an Independent non-executive Director on 18 October 2022. has 
more than 30 years of experience in the legal and academic industry in 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). She worked as a full-time 
lawyer at Jinzhou City Huaying Law Firm ( ) from 
September 1990 to February 1996, and subsequently as a part-time 
lawyer at Liaoning Qiuming Law Firm* ( ) since then. 
Since March 1996, she has been teaching at and is currently a professor 
in the Faculty of Law of The Bohai University ( ) in the 
PRC. She is also a part-time legal advisor to certain governmental bodies 
(including the Jinzhou Municipal People’s Government (

)) and arbitrator in the PRC. Ms. Tan obtained a bachelor’s degree in 
law from the China University of Political Science and Law (

) in 1994, and further obtained a master’s degree in economics from 
The Nankai University ( ) in the PRC in 1999. Ms. Tan holds the 
Teachers’ Qualification Certificate of the PRC (

), the Legal Professional Qualification Certificate of the PRC (
 ) and the Legal Practicing Qualification 

Certificate of the PRC ( ). From 11 
February 2018 to 30 October 2019, Ms. Tan was an independent 
non-executive director of Bank of Jinzhou Co., Ltd. (

) (Stock Code: 0416), a company was listed on the Main Board 
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Directors’ interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares 

in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Interest and 

Short Positions of the Directors and the Chief Executives of the Company 

in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its 

Associated Corporations” in this annual report. Each Director has been 

appointed for a term of three years. The Directors’ emoluments, the 

basis of determining the same (including any bonus payments, whether 

fixed or discretionary in nature, irrespective of whether the Director has 

or does not have a service contract) and the Directors’ fees are set out in 

note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the section headed 

and “Report of the Directors – Emolument Policy” of this annual report. 

Save as disclosed above, each Director confirmed that there are no other 

matters that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of 

the Company and there is no other information which is required to be 

disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Company Secretary
Mr. YEUNG Chi Tat ( ), aged 55, is the Chief Financial Officer 

and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Yeung graduated from 

the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree of business 

administration and obtained a master’s degree in professional accounting 

with distinction from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow 

member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 

Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the 

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He worked at a major 

international accounting firm for over 10 years and then worked for 

various Hong Kong listed companies as vice-president, chief financial 

officer, financial controller and/or company secretary. He possesses 

extensive experience in auditing, accounting, business management, 

corporate restructuring and corporate finance.

Senior Management
Mr. ZHANG Hai ( ), aged 42, the General Manager of the Module 

Business Department of the Group. He holds a bachelor’s degree in 

information technology and business management at Northeastern 

University, master’s degree in energy management from Tulane 

University. He is a PhD candidate of Business Administration at the 

Belhaven University and is an electrical engineer. In 2010, Mr. Zhang 

was employed by Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd (

) as the head of Quality Assurance Department. He 

served as the head of Group Quality Control Department in 2012 and the 

director of Group Quality Management Department in February 2014. 

In August 2014, he became the general manager of Module Business 

Department. Since January 2018, he served as the Vice General Manager 

and General Manager of R&D Quality Assurance Centre of the Group. He 

was appointed as the General Manager of Module Business Department 

since February 2021. He is currently vice chairman of China Photovoltaic 

Industry Association and the Deputy to the Jinzhou Municipal People’s 

Congress. He was awarded the May 1st Labor Medal of Jinzhou City, one 

of the inventors of 16 patents, one of the third prize of Liaoning Province 

Science and Technology Progress Award and one of the first prize of 

Jinzhou Science and Technology Progress Award.

Ms. LIU Bo ( ), aged 52, the General Manager of Jianhu Production 

Base of the Module Business Department of the Group. She joined the 

Group in 2005. She graduated from the Dongbei University of Finance 

and Economics in 1996. Ms Liu became the team leader of Wafer 

Slicing from 2006. Since 2008, she served as minister of production 

and equipment. In January 2013, she was the Vice General Manager of 

Module Business Department and has served as the General Manager of 

Jianhu Production Base of Module Business Department since May 2019.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. WANG Lixin ( ), aged 57, the General Manager of Jinzhou 

Production Base of Module Business Department of the Group. He 

graduated from the Party School of Liaoning Province in 2000. Prior 

to joining the Group, Mr. Wang was the Chief Engineer of Jinzhou 

Thermal Power Corporation ( ) from April 1990 to May 

2008. He joined the Group as the head of Cell Business Department 

and Equipment Department in 2008 and later became the plant head of 

Cell Business Department since 2012 and the general manager of Cell 

Business Department since 2014. He also served as the General Manager 

of Module Business Department since January 2018. Since December 

2020, he serves as the General Manager of Jinzhou Production Base of 

the Group’s Module Business Department.

Mr. MA Yuan ( ), aged 39, the General Manager of the Group’s 

Marketing Operation Centre. He joined the Group in 2008 and served in 

Shanghai Marketing Centre. He graduated from Dalian Jiaotong University 

in 2008. Mr. Ma was the Vice Supervisor of Shanghai Marketing Centre in 

2013. Later, he became the department head of the Domestic Marketing 

Department in 2015 and Director in 2017. In 2020, he was appointed 

as the General Manager of the Group’s Marketing Operation Centre. 

Mr. Ma has won various provincial and municipal honorary awards many 

times, such as “Jinzhou Model Worker”, “Jinzhou Top Ten Industrial 

Sales Champions” and other glorious titles. The marketing team led by 

him won the “Jinzhou May Fourth Youth Medal” (collective) in 2019.
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Senior Management (continued)

Ms. FENG Wenli ( ), aged 69, the General Manager of the 

Group’s Liaoning Boxinke Semiconductor Materials Co., Ltd. She 

graduated from Northeastern University in 1982 with a major in 

semiconductor materials. From the same year, she worked in 

 (Luoyang Monocrystalline Silicon Factory). She was mainly 

engaged in semiconductor-grade monocrystalline silicon ingot-pulling 

technology and technical quality management. In 1990, she served as 

Chief Engineer of Luoyang Monocrystalline Silicon Factory. In 1993, she 

served as the Secretary of Party Committee of Luoyang Monocrystalline 

Silicon Factory and from 1995 onwards, she concurrently served as 

General Manager of Sino-US joint venture company 

 (MCL Electronic Materials Co., Ltd.) and has received training on 

monocrystalline silicon ingot and wafer technologies and management 

training from MEMC of the United States. In October 2000, she worked 

as Deputy General Manager of  (GRINM Silicon Guotai 

Co., Ltd.) under  (Beijing General Research 

Institute For Nonferrous Metals). She was responsible for the technical 

quality and production of heavily blended monocrystalline silicon ingots 

and wafers, and participated in the national science and technology 

research and development project work on 8-inch heavily arsenic blended 

monocrystalline silicon. She served as the Deputy General Manager 

of  (Shanghai Shenhe Thermomagnetic 

Electronic Materials Co., Ltd.) in March 2003, where she was responsible 

for monocrystalline ingot and wafer production. She has also received 

training on wafer production, technology and management from 

 (Toshiba Ceramics Co., Ltd.) of Japan. She was the General 

Manager of  (Inner Mongolia Minaji 

Photovoltaic Materials Co., Ltd.) in 2006, where she was responsible for 

the production of solar monocrystalline silicon and the production of 

heavily blended monocrystalline silicon. She was appointed as the General 

Manager of the Group’s Liaoning Boxinke Semiconductor Materials Co., 

Ltd. on 11 July 2022.

Mr. CAO Hongbin ( ), aged 60, the General Manager of the 

Group’s Jiangsu Xinyangguang Zhiding Technology Co., Ltd. He joined 

the Group in January 2021. He graduated from Jiangsu Agricultural 

Reclamation Workers’ College ( ) in Enterprise 

Management in 1989 and obtained the title of Senior Economist. Mr. 

Cao became the General Manager of Jinzhou Xinyangguang Photovoltaic 

Application Co., Ltd in January 2021. Since March 2021, he has served as 

the General Manager of Jiangsu Xinyangguang Zhiding Technology Co., 

Ltd.
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Corporation

Sharp Corporation

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. SATO Masanobu ( ), aged 55, is the Quality Director of 

Module Business Department of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, 

he worked in Sharp Corporation from 1988 and had worked in the 

semiconductor field for 18 years. After which, for 10 years from 2006, he 

served as the Quality Manager in the Department of Photovoltaic Systems 

in Sharp Corporation. Since 2016, he serves as the Quality Director of 

Cell Business Department and Technology and Quality Director of Module 

Business Department of the Group.
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The Directors present the annual report together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Activities
The Company acts as an investment holding company of the Group. 
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and trading of 
photovoltaic modules, the construction and operation of photovoltaic 
power plants. The analysis of the principal activities and geographical 
locations of the operations of the subsidiaries during the financial year 
are set out in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Further 
discussion and analysis of these activities, including a description of an 
indication of likely future development in and, risks and uncertainties of 
the Group’s business, can be found in the section entitled “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” this annual report. This discussion forms part 
of this directors’ report. The description and disclosures of the Group’s 
Environmental, Social and Governance aspects during the financial year 
can also be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance (the 
“ESG”) Report which to be published separately.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
As far as the directors are aware, the Group has complied in material 
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material breach of or 
noncompliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The Group’s top five customers are mainly silicon solar wafer, cell or 
modules manufacturers or traders. In aggregate, the largest and five 
largest customers did not exceed 19% (2023: 18%) and 66% (2023: 
55%) of the Group’s total sales in 2024 respectively.

In aggregates, the Group’s purchases from its largest and five largest 
suppliers did not exceed 15% (2023: 15%) and 41% (2023: 45%) of the 
Group’s total purchases in 2024 respectively. Save for Mr. Tung Ching 
Sai (details of his interest in the shares of the Company are set out in the 
section headed “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests 
and Short Positions’ in Shares and Underlying Shares” below in this 
report) who was indirectly interested in one of the five largest suppliers, 
at no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates or any 
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors 
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in 
these major suppliers and/or customers.

1

19%
18% 66% 55%

15%  
15% 41% 45%

5%
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227,084,000
111,906,000

913,354,000  
917,583,000

1,642,000
85,000

25

14

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers, 
Customers and Other Stakeholders
The Group understands the importance of maintaining good relationships 
with its employees, suppliers, customers and other stakeholders to meet 
its immediate and long-term goals. During the year under review, there 
were no material and significant dispute between the Group and its 
suppliers, customers and/or stakeholders.

Financial Statements and Dividends
The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the 
Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial 
statements on pages 86 to 208. The Directors do not recommend the 
payment of a final dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023.

Transfer to Reserves
Loss attributable to owners of the parent for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was RMB227,084,000 (2023: profit of RMB111,906,000) had been 
transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in the 
section entitled “consolidated statement of changes in equity” in the 
annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, distributable reserves of the Company 
amounted to approximately RMB913,354,000 (2023: RMB917,583,000).

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year was 
RMB1,642,000 (2023: RMB 85,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 
December 2024 are set out in note 25 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and 
equipment are set out in note 14 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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Share Capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year 
are set out in note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for 
the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the annual report.

Directors
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report 
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua, Chairman
Mr. TAN Xin
Mr. WANG Junze

Non-executive Director

Mr. HSU You Yuan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. CHUNG Wai Hang
Ms. TAN Ying

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, 
Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. TAN Xin, both being an executive Directors, 
Mr. HSU You Yuan, being a non-executive Director and Ms. TAN Ying, 
being an independent non-executive Director, will retire by rotation at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. 
HSU You Yuan have informed the Board of their intention not to seek 
for re-election and will retire from the Board with effect from conclusion 
of the AGM. Mr. TAN Xin and Ms. TAN Ying, being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Directors’ Service Contracts
None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting has a service agreement with the Company 
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without 
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Related Party Transactions
During the year ended 31 December 2024, transactions with the 
following parties are considered to be related party transactions:

Name of party Relationship 
  

Qujing Yangguang New Energy Co., Ltd. Controlled by the directors and their close relatives 
 of the Company

Jinzhou Youhua Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. Controlled by the directors and their close relatives of 
 the Company

Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Co., Ltd. Controlled by the directors and their close relatives of 
 the Company

Jiangsu Oriental Huida New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. Associate of the Group

Liaoning Yangguang Energy Power Co., Ltd. Associate of the Group

  

Details of the related party transactions are disclosed in note 36 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Continuing Connected Transactions
The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in 
respect of the Company’s continuing connected transactions. 
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Connected Transaction
Save for the exempt connected transactions as disclosed in note 36(b) to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements, for the year ended 31 December 
2024, the other related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements did not constitute connected 
transactions or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

Share Scheme
The Company did not have a share scheme as at 31 December 2024.

Employee Share Ownership Plan
The Company did not have employee share ownership plan as at 31 
December 2024.

Tax Relief
The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the 
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) by reason of their 
holdings of the shares. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation 
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or exercising 
of any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to consult their 
professional advisers.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s 
Listed Securities
There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

Future plans for material investments and 
capital assets 
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have plans for material 
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.
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Interests and Short Positions of the Directors 
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the 
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of 
the Company and its Associated Corporations
As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the Directors 
and the chief executives of the Company and their associates had the 
following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of 
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the 
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code:

Name of Directors Nature interest

Number of
ordinary shares

held (Note 1)

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding (%)

1 (%)
    

Mr. TAN Wenhua Beneficial interest (Note 2)
2

Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2)
2

556,924,443 (L)

155,320,308 (L)

16.76%

4.67%

Mr. TAN XIN Beneficial interest 41,762,000 (L) 1.26%

Mr. WANG Junze Beneficial interest 100,500 (L) Less than 0.01%
0.01%

Mr. HSU You Yuan Beneficial interest 15,591,016 (L) 0.47%

    

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

2. As at 31 December 2024, Mr. TAN Wenhua is interested in an aggregate 

of 712,244,751 shares of the Company, of which (i) 556,924,443 shares of 

the Company are directly held by Mr. TAN Wenhua; and (ii) 155,320,308 

shares of the Company are held by You Hua Investment Corporation, which is 

wholly-owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors 
nor chief executive of the Company has any interests and short positions 
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any 
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) 
(i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under 
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to 
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; 
or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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2. 
Hiramatsu International Corp. Hanako 

Hiramatsu Hanako 
Hiramatsu Hiramatsu International Corp.

3. 

XV
2 3

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ 
Interests and Short Positions’ in Shares and 
Underlying Shares
As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, save as 
disclosed above, the substantial shareholders and other persons or 
corporations (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) 
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares 
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under 
section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified to the Company were 
as follows:

Name Capacity

Number of
ordinary shares

held (Note 1)

Approximate
Percentage of

shareholding (%)

1 (%)
    

Hiramatsu International Corp. Beneficial owner 291,835,692 (L) 8.78%

Hanako Hiramatsu (Note 2)
Hanako Hiramatsu 2

Interest of a controlled corporation 291,835,692 (L) 8.78%

Madam SZE Tan Hung Beneficial interest 182,290,000 (L) 5.48%

Mr. TUNG Ching Sai (Note 3)
3

Interest of spouse 182,290,000 (L) 5.48%

    

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all 
reasonable enquiry, Hiramatsu International Corp. is wholly-owned by Hanako 
Hiramatsu as at the date of this report. By virtue of the SFO, Hanako Hiramatsu is 
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Hiramatsu International Corp.

3. Mr. TUNG Ching Sai is the spouse of Madam SZE Tan Hung and is therefore 
deemed to be interested in all the shares which Madam SZE Tan Hung is 
interested in for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are not 
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short 
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fall to be 
disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-competition Undertaking
During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor 
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest 
in a business that competed or might compete with the business of the 
Group.

Mr. TAN Wenhua has confirmed that he has complied with the terms of 
non-competition undertaking (“Non-competition Undertaking”) given in 
favour of the Company. The independent non-executive Directors have 
also reviewed the status of the compliance of the undertakings stipulated 
in the Non-competition Undertaking and have confirmed that, as far as 
the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no breach 
of any of such undertakings.

Pursuant to the Non-competition Undertaking, Mr. TAN Wenhua shall 
continue to be bound by the terms of the non-competition undertaking 
in the event that he ceases to be a Director but remains a substantial 
shareholder of the Company.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is 
actual or potential conflict in interest.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had not 
received any information in writing from Mr. TAN Wenhua in respect of 
any new business opportunity which competed or might compete with 
the existing and future business of the Group which were offered to or 
came to be the knowledge of the Mr. TAN Wenhua or his associates 
(other than any member of the Group), and the Company has received 
an annual written confirmation from Mr. TAN Wenhua in respect of him 
and his associates in compliance with the non competition undertaking. 
The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed and were 
satisfied that Mr. TAN Wenhua had complied with the Non-competition 
undertaking.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
On 2 June 2020, Solargiga Hong Kong, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered into a loan agreement with Mr. TAN Wenhua, our 
executive director, for a loan to Solargiga Hong Kong which is unsecured 
with a 5% annual interest rate. For details, please refer to Note 36 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2024 in this report.

Save as disclosed above, no transaction, arrangement or contract of 
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow 
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected 
with a director is or had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 
December 2024.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this 
report, the Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for 
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its 
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors shall be 
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from 
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses 
which they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, 
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

Emolument Policy
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by the 
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and 
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration 
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual 
performance and comparable market statistics.

Retirement Benefit Schemes
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in 
note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s 
articles of association, or the law of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction 
in which the Company is incorporated under which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro rata basis to 
existing shareholders.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of 
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions 
by the Directors. Special enquiries have been made by the Company to 
confirm that all Directors have been complied with the Model Code for 
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set 
out in the section entitled “Corporate Governance report” in the annual 
report.

Audit Committee
The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of 
references adopted in compliance with the Code set out in Appendix C1 
of the Listing Rules. The members of the Audit Committee are the three 
independent non-executive Directors, and Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, 
an independent non-executive Director, is the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication 
between other Directors, the external auditor and the internal auditor 
(where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as regards their 
duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external 
and internal audits and such other financial and accounting matters as 
the Board determines from time to time.

The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an independent 
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal 
control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the 
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may 
be assigned by the Board from time to time and the Company considers 
these systems effective and adequate. The audit committee has reviewed 
the Group’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements for the 
year 2024, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by 
the Group.

Management Contracts
The Company did not enter into any contract with any individual, firm 
or body corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial 
part of any business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Dividend Policy
In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance 
between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the Group’s business and 
rewarding the shareholders of the Company. The Board shall take into 
account the following factors, among other factors:

(a) the Group’s overall results of operation, financial position, liquidity 
position, capital requirements, cash flow and future prospects;

(b) the amount of distributable reserves of the Company;

(c) the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans of 
the Group;

(d) the general business and regulatory conditions, the business cycle 
of the Group and other internal or external factors that may have 
an impact on the business or financial performance and position of 
the Group;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(f) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by 
the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the 
Company to the Company;

(g) the Shareholders’ interests; and

(h) other factors that the Board deems relevant.

Sufficiency of Public Float
As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the 
prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued share capital 
of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed with the 
Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly available to the 
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.
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Confirmation of Independence
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive 
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent Non-Executive 
Directors to be independent.

Auditors
Ernst & Young, registered public interest entity auditor, was appointed 
by the Directors to conduct audit on the financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. A resolution will be 
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Ernst 
& Young as the auditors of the Company.

By Order of the Board
TAN Wenhua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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To the shareholders of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Solargiga 
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 86 to 208 which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards Accounting Standards (“IFRS 
Accounting Standards”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards Accounting 
Standards (“HKFRS Accounting Standards”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, 
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how 
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfil led the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements.  The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for 
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
  

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had property, plant and equipment 
(“PP&E”) of RMB608,814,000 which accounted for a significant portion 
of the Group’s assets.

Management assesses related assets for potential impairment whenever 
there are indications that the carrying value of an asset or a group of 
assets may not be recoverable. Management performed impairment 
assessment accordingly by determining the recoverable amount of 
the relevant cash-generating units (“CGU”) based on the value-in-
use calculation or the fair value less cost of disposal according to 
appraisal reports. Based on the impairment test, impairment losses of 
RMB107,932,000 were recognised by management for PP&E for the year 
ended 31 December 2024.  

Auditing management’s impairment assessment of PP&E was complex 
due to the significant estimates and judgements involved in the 
projections of future cash flows, including the future sales volumes, 
product prices and discount rates applied to these forecasted future cash 
flows. These estimates and judgements may be significantly affected by 
changes in future market, policies or economic conditions. The inherent 
risk in relation to the impairment assessment of PP&E is considered 
significant due to the complexity of the model and subjectivity of 
significant assumptions used. Therefore, we identified the impairment 
assessment of PP&E as a key audit matter.

The accounting policies and disclosure of the impairment are included in 
note 2.4 “Summary of significant accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant 
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 14 “Property, plant and 
equipment” to the consolidated financial statements.

608,814,000

107,932,000

2.4 3
14
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

We obtained an understanding of, evaluated the design of, and tested 
the operating effectiveness of key controls over the PP&E impairment 
assessment process.

Among other audit procedures performed, we obtained an understanding 
of and evaluated management’s assessment of impairment indicators, 
compared the methodology used by the Group to accounting standards. 
We also obtained an understanding of and evaluated management’s 
identification on CGU, significant assumptions used in the calculations, 
which included, amongst others, the future sales volumes and product 
prices. In addition, we involved our valuation specialists to assist us with 
assessing management’s valuation methodologies and the discount rates 
used. 

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures included in the 
consolidated financial statements regarding the impairment assessment 
of PP&E.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated carrying amount and the 
related impairment provision of trade receivables and contract assets  
were RMB1,412,672,000 and RMB48,995,000, respectively.

The Group used a provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses 
(“ECLs”). The matrix is based on the ageing of balances for groupings 
of various customers with similar loss patterns, repayment history, 
and existing customer-specific and market conditions. In addition, 
management considered forward-looking information, including the 
industry trends and overall economic conditions. Estimating the expected 
credit loss requires significant management judgements and estimates.

The accounting policies and disclosure of the impairment are included in 
note 2.4 “Material accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting 
judgements and estimates”, and note 21 “Trade, bills receivables and 
contract assets” to the consolidated financial statements.

1,412,672,000 48,995,000

2.4 3
21
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

We evaluated the design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of key internal controls which govern credit control, debt collection and 
estimation of ECLs. 

We tested the arithmetic accuracy of the provision matrix prepared by 
management to calculate the ECLs. We also assessed management’s 
estimates on loss allowance by examining the information used by 
management, including testing the accuracy of the ageing report and 
repayment history by sampling items with the relevant underlying 
documentation; and evaluating whether the estimated loss rates were 
adjusted based on forward-looking information. In addition, we evaluated 
the forward-looking information which the Group used to calibrate 
the matrix, such as industry trends and overall economic conditions, by 
comparing them to external industry outlook reports. 

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures included in the 
consolidated financial statements regarding the impairment assessment 
of trade receivables and contract assets.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE 
ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.  
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB, 
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the 
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in 
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a 
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.
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• 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed 
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent 
auditor’s report is Denis Ming Kui Cheng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Revenue 5 3,706,198 7,192,853
Cost of sales (3,602,159) (6,734,850)     

Gross profit 104,039 458,003
Other income and gains 6 124,576 140,560
Selling and distribution expenses (75,189) (100,638)
Administrative expenses (219,989) (279,045)
Reversal of impairment loss on financial 

and contract assets 3,538 12,651
Impairment losses of property, plant and 

equipment (107,932)
Other expenses (1,255) (3,283)
Finance costs 8 (59,999) (71,118)     

(Loss)/profit before tax 7 (232,211) 157,130
Income tax credit/(expense) 11 5,215 (15,462)     

(Loss)/profit for the year (226,996) 141,668
     

Attributable to:
 Owners of the parent  (227,084) 111,906
 Non-controlling interests  88 29,762     

(Loss)/profit for the year (226,996) 141,668
     

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings 
per share attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent  
(RMB cents)

 

13 (6.83) 3.37
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2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(Loss)/profit for the year (226,996) 141,668
Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may 

be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods: 
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations (848) (16,256)
Changes in fair value of equity investments 

designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 141    

(707) (16,256)
    

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for  
the year (227,703) 125,412

    

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent (227,791) 95,650
Non-controlling interests 88 29,762    

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for  
the year (227,703) 125,412
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 608,814 756,401
Long term prepayments and other 

receivables 37,679 40,709
Goodwill 15
Right-of-use assets 16 129,304 116,040
Investments in associates 17 1,102 1,200
Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 
income

 

18 3,841 3,700
Deferred tax assets 19 15,099 11,880     

Total non-current assets 795,839 929,930     

Current assets

Inventories 20 376,852 326,763
Trade, bills receivables and contract 

assets 21 1,782,169 2,188,054
Prepayments, other receivables and 

other assets 22 246,157 281,038
Current tax recoverable 334 6,046
Pledged deposits 23 510,979 1,358,000
Cash and cash equivalents 24 270,699 578,364     

Total current assets 3,187,190 4,738,265     

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other 
borrowings 25 952,661 1,195,684

Trade and bills payables 26 1,563,184 2,533,356
Other payables and accruals 27 153,888 291,755
Contract liabilities 28 34,457 37,996
Current tax payable 34,809 53,866
Provision 29 1,367 5,128
Current portion of lease liabilities 16 8,207 3,967     

Total current liabilities 2,748,573 4,121,752
     

Net current assets 438,617 616,513
     

Total assets less current liabilities 1,234,456 1,546,443
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other 
borrowings 25 1,544 28,239

Deferred tax liabilities 19 2,282 10,721
Deferred income 30 83,800 105,074
Lease liabilities 16 37,874 23,213
Provision 29 146,524 186,087     

Total non-current liabilities 272,024 353,334
     

Net assets 962,432 1,193,109
     

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of  

the parent

Share capital 32 285,924 285,924
Reserves 33 658,992 891,100     

944,916 1,177,024
Non-controlling interests 17,516 16,085     

Total equity 962,432 1,193,109
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent

 

Share
capital

Share
premium*

General
Reserve

fund*
Capital

reserve*
Exchange
reserve*

Other
reserve*

Accumulated
losses* Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity

* * * * * *
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

            

As at 1 January 2024 285,924 1,540,888 308,807 34,703 (42,816) (88,238) (862,244) 1,177,024 16,085 1,193,109
Loss for the year (227,084) (227,084) 88 (226,996)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity 

investments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 141 141 141

Exchange differences related to foreign 
operations (848) (848) (848)            

Total comprehensive loss for the year (848) 141 (227,084) (227,791) 88 (227,703)
Acquisition of non-controlling 

interests**
**

(1,533) (1,533) (1,441) (2,974)
Investment in a subsidiary*** *** (2,784) (2,784) 2,784
Appropriation to reserves 2,008 (2,008)            

As at 31 December 2024 285,924 1,540,888 310,815 31,919 (43,664) (89,630) (1,091,336) 944,916 17,516 962,432
            

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of RMB658,992,000 

(2023: RMB891,100,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

** In December 2024, Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Yangguang”, 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) acquired 6.6% shareholdings of 

Liaoning Boxinke Semiconductor Material Co., Ltd. (“Boxinke”) from a non-

controlling shareholder of Boxinke at a total consideration of RMB2,974,000.

*** In June 2024, Jinzhou Yangguang increased its investment by RMB5,320,000 to 

its non-wholly-owned subsidiary Qujing Xinyangguang Zhiding Technology Co., 

Ltd. After the capital injection, the Group’s shareholding percentage increased 

from 75% to 93.17%.

* 

658,992,000 891,100,000

** 

2,974,000

6.6%

*** 

5,320,000 75%

93.17%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent

 

Share
capital

Share
premium

General
Reserve

fund
Capital
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Other
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

            

As at 31 December 2022 285,924 1,540,888 230,361 34,703 (26,560) (68,008) (895,898) 1,101,410 104,024 1,205,434
Effect of adoption of amendments to 
 IAS12/HKAS 12

12
 12 194 194 70 264            

As at 1 January 2023 (restated) 285,924 1,540,888 230,361 34,703 (26,560) (68,008) (895,704) 1,101,604 104,094 1,205,698
Profit for the year 111,906 111,906 29,762 141,668
Other comprehensive loss for the year:
Exchange differences related to foreign 
 operations (16,256) (16,256) (16,256)            

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year (16,256) 111,906 95,650 29,762 125,412
Acquisition of non-controlling 
 interests (20,230) (20,230) (74,720) (94,950)
Capital contribution from 
 non-controlling interests 5,111 5,111
Dividends paid to non-controlling 
 shareholders (48,162) (48,162)
Appropriation to reserves 78,446 (78,446)            

As at 31 December 2023 285,924 1,540,888 308,807 34,703 (42,816) (88,238) (862,244) 1,177,024 16,085 1,193,109
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2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit before tax (232,211) 157,130

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 7(c) 161,053 158,787
(Gains)/loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment
 

(19,794) 711
Reversal of write-down of inventories 7(c) (23,520) (42,107)
Reversal of impairment losses on trade 

receivables and contract assets
 

21 (3,538) (12,651)
Impairment losses of property, plant 

and equipment 7(c) 107,932
Finance costs 8,16 59,999 71,118
(Reversal of provision)/provision for 

warranties 29 (28,725) 35,604
Interest income from bank deposits (12,012) (44,784)
Gains on acquisition of an associate (52)
Share of profits of associates (102)
Net foreign exchange gain (2,527) (40,796)     

Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (26,569) 302,910
Release of pledged deposits 847,021 956,201
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills 

receivables
 

452,424 (583,776)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, 

other receivables and other assets (126,050) 104,644
Decrease in contract assets 88,094 25,426
Decrease in trade and bills payables (970,172) (1,414,904)
Decrease in other payables, accruals 

and other liabilities (49,263) (261,870)
Decrease in deferred income (21,274) (21,273)     

Cash generated from/(used in) 
operations 200,714 (609,630)

Income tax paid (12,287) (76,377)
Withholding tax paid (7,500) (6,141)     

Net cash flows generated from/ 
(used in) operating activities 180,927 (692,148)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for the purchase of property, 
plant and equipment (176,345) (288,058)

Payment for acquisition of non-
controlling interests in a subsidiary (2,974) (94,950)

Proceeds from disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 16,744 10,026

Interest received 12,012 44,784
Disposal of subsidiaries 889,321
Disposal of an associate 252
Additions to equity investments 

designated at fair value through  
other comprehensive income (3,700)     

Net cash flows (used in)/generated 
from investing activities (150,311) 557,423     

Cash flows from financing activities

New bank loans and other loans 625,985 1,284,259
Repayment of bank loans and other 

loans (895,703) (1,191,761)
Principal portion of lease payments (9,014) (4,327)
Capital contribution from non-

controlling shareholders 5,111
Interest paid (59,999) (71,118)
Dividends paid (253,246)     

Net cash flows used in financing 
activities (338,731) (231,082)     
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents (308,115) (365,807)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 578,364 937,897

Effect of foreign exchange rate  
changes, net 450 6,274     

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 24 270,699 578,364

     

Analysis of balances of cash and 
cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances 24 270,699 578,364
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with 
its subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757) is a 
limited liability company incorporated in Cayman. The registered 
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square Hutchins Drive 
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 Cayman Islands.

The Group is a leading supplier of downstream vertically integrated 
solar energy services.

During the year, the Group was mainly engaged in the following 
businesses:

(a) the manufacture and trading of photovoltaic modules;

(b) the construction and operation of photovoltaic power 
plants; and

(c) the manufacture and trading of semiconductor, the trading 
of monocrystalline silicon solar cells and others.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the Company

 

Name of company
Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Authorised/registered/
paid-in/issued capital

Held by the 
Company

Held by a 
subsidiary Principal activities Legal form

% %
       

Jinzhou Rixin Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of 
 RMB190,000,000

190,000,000

100 Trading of photovoltaic 
 modules

Limited liability company

Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of 
 RMB1,000,000,000

 1,000,000,000

100 Manufacture and trading of
 photovoltaic modules

Limited liability company

1. 

757

Cricket Square Hutchins 
Drive P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 
Cayman Islands

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 
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1.  

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the Company

 

Name of company
Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Authorised/registered/
paid-in/issued capital

Held by the 
Company

Held by a 
subsidiary Principal activities Legal form

% %
       

Shanghai Jingji Electronic Materials Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 US$6,950,000

6,950,000

100 Manufacture and trading of
 photovoltaic modules

Limited liability company

Solar Technology Investment (Cayman)
 Corp.

Cayman Islands Authorised capital of HK$400,000,000 
 of HK$0.10 each and issued share 
 capital of HK$167,895,494

400,000,000
 0.10 167,895,494
 

100 Investment holding Limited liability company

Jinzhou Yangguang Jinmao Photovoltaic
 Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 RMB140,000,000

140,000,000

100 Manufacture and trading of
 photovoltaic modules

Limited liability company

Solargiga Energy (Hong Kong) Company
 Limited

Hong Kong HK$1
1

100 Trading of photovoltaic modules Limited liability company

Silicon Solar Materials Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Investment holding Limited liability company
1

Sino Light Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Authorised capital of US$500,000 of
 US$0.001 each and issued share 
 capital of US$53,920

500,000
 0.001 53,920

100 Investment holding Limited liability company

You Xin Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 Investment holding Limited liability company
100,000

Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology
 Company Limited

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 RMB130,000,000

130,000,000

100 Trading of photovoltaic modules Limited liability company

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the Company

 

Name of company
Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Authorised/registered/
paid-in/issued capital

Held by the 
Company

Held by a 
subsidiary Principal activities Legal form

% %
       

Jinzhou Xinyangguang Photovoltaic
 Application Co., Ltd

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 RMB100,000,000

100,000,000

100 Construction of photovoltaic
 power plants

Limited liability company

Jinzhou Xinlin Solargiga Industrial and PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of 100 Trading of solar cells and solar Limited liability company
 Trading Co., Ltd.  RMB20,000,000  modules

20,000,000

Jinzhou Jiuxin Solargiga Technology and
 Trading Co., Ltd.

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 RMB20,000,000

20,000,000

100 Trading of solar cells and solar
 modules

Limited liability company

Jinzhou Yangguang Motech Renewable
 Energy Co., Ltd.

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 RMB64,040,000

64,040,000

100 Manufacture of
 monocrystalline wafers

Limited liability company

Jinzhou Chuanghui New Energy Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of 100 Manufacture and trading of Limited liability company
 RMB200,000,000  photovoltaic modules

200,000,000

Jinzhou Yiyang New Energy Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of 
 RMB25,000,000 

25,000,000

100 Trading of photovoltaic modules Limited liability company

Liaoning Boxinke Semiconductor Material
 Co., Ltd.

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
  RMB36,000,000 and paid-in capital 

of RMB24,210,000
36,000,000

 24,210,000

57.60 Manufacture and trading of
 electronic semiconductor
 materials

Limited liability company

Jiangsu Yueyang Photovoltaic Technology
 Co., Ltd.

PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital of
 RMB217,990,000

217,990,000

100 Manufacture of photovoltaic
 modules

Limited liability company

Jiangsu Xinyangguang Zhiding Technology
 Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Zhiding”)

PRC/Mainland China Registered capital of RMB30,000,000 
 and paid-in capital of 
 RMB20,000,000

30,000,000
 20,000,000

80 Construction of photovoltaic
 power plants

Limited liability company

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) 
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Percentage of equity 
attributable to the Company

 

Name of company
Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Authorised/registered/
paid-in/issued capital

Held by the 
Company

Held by a 
subsidiary Principal activities Legal form

% %
       

Qujing Xinyangguang Zhiding Technology
 Co., Ltd.

PRC/Mainland China Registered capital of RMB10,000,000 
 and paid-in capital of RMB7,320,000

10,000,000
 7,320,000

93.17 Construction of photovoltaic
 power plants

Limited liability company

XSD Union Solar Tech Limited Hong Kong Registered capital of US$100,000 and
 paid-in capital of Nil

100,000
 

51 Construction of photovoltaic
 power plants

Limited liability company

The English translation of the company names is for reference only. 
The official names of these companies are based on the official 
language of their respective place of incorporation.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the 
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year 
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. 
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards Accounting Standards 
(“IFRS Accounting Standards”) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards Accounting Standards (“HKFRS Accounting 
Standards”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, except for equity investments 
and certain financial assets which have been measured at fair 
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi 
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except 
when otherwise indicated.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) 

1.  

2. 

2.1 
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2. 

2.1 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or 
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when 
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that 
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights 
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of 
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of 
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue 
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income 
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and 
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets 
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts 
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control described above. A change in 
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1 

2.2  

16  
16

1  
1  2020

1  
1  2022

7  
7  

7
7  

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises 
the related assets (including goodwill) and liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange reserve; and recognises the 
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or 
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit 
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as 
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 
DISCLOSURES
The IASB has issued a number of amendments to IFRS Accounting 
Standards that are first effective for the current accounting 
year commencing 1 January 2024 or later but available for early 
adoption. The equivalent amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards consequently issued by the HKICPA have the same 
effective dates as those issued by the IASB and are in all material 
aspects identical to the pronouncements issued by the IASB.

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting 
Standards/HKFRS Accounting Standards for the first time for the 
current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to 
IFRS 16/HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to  
IAS 1/HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current (the “2020 
Amendments”)

Amendments to  
IAS 1/HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
(the “2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to  
IAS 7/HKAS 7 and  
IFRS 7/HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

None of these developments to IFRS Accounting Standards and 
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective for the current 
accounting period of the Group have a material effect to the 
Group’s results and financial position prepared or presented in 
these financial statements.
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2.3 

18
18

3

19
19

3

9

9
7

7

2

21

21

1

11

1
1

7
7 9

9
10

10
7 7

2

1 2025 1 1
2 2026 1 1
3 2027 1 1

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS/HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS 
Accounting Standards/HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have 
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. 
The Group intends to apply these new and revised IFRS Accounting 
Standards/HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective.

IFRS 18/HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements3

IFRS 19/HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 
Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to IFRS 9/
HKFRS 9 and IFRS 7/
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 
and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments2

Amendments to IAS 21/
HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability1

Annual Improvements to 
IFRS/HKFRS Accounting 
Standards  Volume 
11

Amendments to IFRS 1/HKFRS 1, IFRS 
7/HKFRS 7, IFRS 9/HKFRS 9, IFRS 10/
HKFRS 10 and IAS 7/HKAS 72

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the 
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of 
initial application. So far it is concluded that the initial adoption 
is unlikely to have significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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2.4 

20%

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term 
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights 
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only 
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated 
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s 
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less 
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line 
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share 
of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income 
of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive 
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change 
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, 
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised 
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group 
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, 
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment 
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition 
of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s 
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint 
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. 
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the 
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence 
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group 
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. 
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or 
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control 
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the 
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date 
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed 
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether 
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair 
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are 
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when 
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a 
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the 
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial 
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. 
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts of the acquiree.
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer 
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the 
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of 
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value 
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, 
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups 
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets 
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of 
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which 
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment 
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or 
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation 
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill 
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the 
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the 
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market 
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous 
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an 
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling 
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in 
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed 
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1   based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2   based on valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is observable, either 
directly or indirectly

Level 3   based on valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial 
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, 
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-
current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An 
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of 
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit 
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.



107ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as 
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than 
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, 
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would 
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A 
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of 
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s 
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the 
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) (a)

(vii) (a) (i)

(viii) 

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions 
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same 
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other 
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary 
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the 
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the 
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a 
person identified in (a);

(vii) a  pe r son ident i f i ed in  (a ) ( i )  has  s ign i f i cant 
influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent 
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a 
part, provides key management personnel services to 
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in 
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment 
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group 
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted 
for in accordance with IFRS 5/HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of 
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and 
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working 
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment 
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is 
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in 
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are 
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the 
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant 
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets 
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the 
cost of items of property, plant and equipment to its residual value 
over its estimated useful life. The principal useful lives used for this 
purpose are as follows:

Buildings located on 
leasehold land

Over the shorter of the unexpired 
term of lease and estimated useful 
lives, being no more than 50 years 

after the date of completion

Plant, machinery and 
equipment

6 to 30 years

Other fixed assets 3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a 
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated 
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation 
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each 
financial year end.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant 
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is 
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment 
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of 
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed 
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress 
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and 
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite 
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently 
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating 
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life 
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from 
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as 
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is 
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate 
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that 
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its 
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the 
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during 
the development. Product development expenditure which does 
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach 
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the 
underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a 
lease component and non-lease component, the Group adopts 
the practical expedient not to separate non-lease component and 
to account for the lease component and the associated non-lease 
component (e.g., property management services for leases of 
properties) as a single lease component.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement 
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, 
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, 
and lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets 
as follows:

Leasehold lands 50 years

Office buildings 2-10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by 
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the 
estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date 
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be 
made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and 
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease 
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate 
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease 
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future 
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) 
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition 
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and 
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition 
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office 
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to 
be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or 
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an 
operating lease or a finance lease.



114 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 

15
15

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified 
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract 
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. 
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit 
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for 
as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified 
as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a 
short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet 
recognition exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an 
operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financia l assets are c lass i f ied, at in i t ia l recognit ion, as 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends 
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the 
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception 
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component or for which the Group has applied the practical 
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing 
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair 
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group 
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction 
price determined under IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 in accordance with the 
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued) 

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, 
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. 
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the 
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to 
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. 
The business model determines whether cash flows will result 
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, 
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised 
cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold 
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while 
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are held within a business model 
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash 
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the 
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their 
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using 
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains 
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and 
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial 
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value 
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon 
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in 
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit 
or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably 
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair 
value through other comprehensive income when they meet the 
definition of equity under IAS 32/HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is 
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to 
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment 
has been established, except when the Group benefits from such 
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, 
in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive 
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the 
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair 
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity 
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify 
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on 
the equity investments are also recognised as other income in the 
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been 
established.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability 
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted 
for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks 
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the 
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition 
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change 
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash 
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a 
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a 
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial 
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to 
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised 
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 
position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, 
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise 
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that 
the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 
the transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses 
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all 
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected 
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held 
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual 
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which 
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the 
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk 
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without 
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking 
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual 
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the 
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely 
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each 
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments 
are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost or 
effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external 
credit ratings of the debt investments. Debt investments graded 
in the top investment categories by the Credit Rating Agency are 
considered to be low credit risk investments. It is the Group’s 
policy to measure ECLs on such instruments on a 12-month basis. 
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
of debt investments since origination, the allowance will be based 
on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from the Credit 
Rating Agency both to determine whether the debt instruments 
have significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to 
impairment under the general approach and they are classified 
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for 
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified 
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition 
and for which the loss allowance is measured at 
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition but 
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and 
for which the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the 
reporting date (but that are not purchased or 
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a 
significant financing component or when the Group applies the 
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant 
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach 
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a 
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on 
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant 
financing component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as 
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating 
ECLs with policies as described above.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, 
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an 
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in 
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, an 
amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial 
instruments and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on 
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, 
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the 
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation 
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those 
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to 
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially 
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee 
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in 
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial 
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when 
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between 
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is 
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case 
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, 
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net 
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any 
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position 
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid 
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of 
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and 
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable 
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised 
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting 
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value 
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance 
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain 
industrial products and the provision of construction services for 
general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period. 
Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the 
Group are initially recognised based on sales volume and past 
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their 
present values as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised 
annually.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there 
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates 
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic 
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to 
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a 
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit 
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal 
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the 
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a 
reduced depreciation charge.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and staff welfare costs are accrued 
in the period in which the associated services are rendered 
by employees of the Group. Where payment or settlement 
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts 
are stated at their present values.

(ii) Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant to the 
relevant labour rules and regulations in Mainland China and 
Hong Kong are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as 
incurred, except to the extent that they are included in the 
cost of inventories not yet recognised as an expense.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when 
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those 
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving 
the payment of termination benefits.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating 
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside 
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking 
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the 
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all 
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes, except that deferred tax is not 
recognised for the Pillar Two income taxes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and 
deductible temporary differences; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:



126 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 

• 

• 

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and 
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax 
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of 
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only 
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be 
settled or recovered.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control 
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, 
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will 
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to 
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract 
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a 
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides 
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer 
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, 
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, 
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in 
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the 
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a 
financing component which provides the Group with a significant 
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised 
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the 
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract 
where the period between the payment by the customer and the 
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the 
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant 
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15/
HKFRS 15.

(i) Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised 
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred 
to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial 
products.
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2.4 

(ii) 

(iii) 

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii) Processing services

Revenue from the processing services rendered is recognised 
over time, using an input method to measure progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the 
Group’s performance does not create an asset with an 
alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date. The input 
method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the 
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for 
satisfaction of the processing services.

(iii) Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction services is 
recognised over time, using an input method to measure 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, 
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an 
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or 
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on 
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the 
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction 
services.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the 
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period 
in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective 
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to 
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the 
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a 
customer before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration 
under the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the 
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are 
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in 
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are 
reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration 
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a 
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the 
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities 
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the 
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to 
the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs direct ly attr ibutable to the acquis it ion, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those 
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All 
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that 
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but 
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that 
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether 
the information affects the amounts that it recognises in its 
financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised 
in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the 
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those 
conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting 
events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the 
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose 
the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their 
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be 
made, if applicable.
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved 
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, 
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association 
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. 
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a 
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars. 
However, the consolidated financial statements of the Group are 
presented in RMB, as the directors of the Company consider that 
the major subsidiaries of the Company are all presented in RMB 
and meanwhile this presentation is more useful for its current and 
potential investors. Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign 
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are 
initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of 
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or 
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at 
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss 
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference 
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance 
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which 
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If 
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group 
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the 
advance consideration.
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2.4 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are 
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting 
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into 
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period and their statements of comprehensive income are 
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates that 
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve. 
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other 
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and 
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB 
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. 
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which 
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted 
average exchange rates for the year.
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3.  

608,748,000
701,304,000

127,986,000

19

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure 
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities 
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the 
level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning 
strategies.

The Group has  tax  lo s ses  o f  RMB608,748,000 (2023: 
RMB701,304,000) carried forward. These losses related to 
subsidiaries that have a history of losses, have not expired, and 
may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. 
The subsidiaries have neither any taxable temporary difference nor 
any tax planning opportunities available that could partly support 
the recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets. On this basis, 
the Group has determined that it cannot recognise deferred tax 
assets on the tax losses carried forward.

If the Group had been able to recognise all unrecognised 
deferred tax assets, the profit and equity would have increased by 
RMB127,986,000. Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in 
note 19 to the financial statements.



133ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.  

(a) 

14

(b) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each 
asset, after taking into account the estimated residual value.  
Management reviews annually the useful life of an asset 
and its residual value, if any. Both the period and methods 
of depreciation are reviewed annually. The depreciation 
expenses for future periods are adjusted if there are 
significant changes from previous estimates. Further details 
are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Management assesses whether there are any indicators of 
impairment for non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are 
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset 
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less 
costs of disposal is based on observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in 
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate 
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order 
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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3.  

(c) 

21

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c) Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables 
and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade 
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based 
on ageing for groupings of various customer segments that 
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, 
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit 
and other forms of credit insurance). 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s 
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate 
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience 
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast 
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are 
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to 
an increased number of defaults in the manufacture sector, 
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting 
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and 
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed 
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is 
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to 
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. 
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast 
of economic conditions may also not be representative of 
customer’s actual default in the future. The information 
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and 
contract assets is disclosed in note 21 to the financial 
statements.
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3.  

(d)   

(e) 

24,459,000
47,979,000

(f) 

25

29

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d) Leases  Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit 
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing 
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.  The IBR is the rate of 
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment.  The IBR therefore 
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which 
requires estimation when no observable rates are available 
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing 
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the 
terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases 
are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).  The Group 
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market 
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain 
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone 
credit rating).

(e) Write-down of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
to completion and selling expenses.  These estimates are 
based on the current market condition and the historical 
experience of manufacture and selling products of similar 
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in 
technique and competitors’ actions in response to adverse 
industry cycles.  Management reassesses these estimates 
at the end of each reporting period. As at 31 December 
2024, the Group provided for the write-down of inventories 
amounting to RMB24,459,000 (2023: RMB47,979,000). 

(f) Provision for warranties

The Group provides warranties for its photovoltaic modules 
for up to 25 years after sales have taken place. Due to 
limited warranty claims history, management estimates 
warranty based on the Group’s historical cost data, industry 
data and an assessment of the history of warranty claims 
of the Group’s competitors.  The warranty obligation of 
the Group will be affected not only by the product failure 
rates, but also by costs incurred to repair or replace failed 
products.  If the actual product failure rates and the costs of 
replacement or repairing of failed products differ from the 
estimates, the Group will need to prospectively revise the 
provision for warranties which would affect profit or loss 
in future years. Further details of the Group’s provision for 
warranties are given in note 29 to the financial statements.
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4. 

(i) A

(ii) B

(iii) 
C

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
In a manner consistent with the way in which information is 
reported internally to the executive directors of the Company, 
being the chief operating decision maker, (the “CODM”) for the 
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the 
Group has identified three reportable segments in 2024:

(i) the manufacture and trading of photovoltaic modules 
(“Segment A”);

(ii) the construction and operation of photovoltaic power plants 
(“Segment B”); and

(iii) the manufacture and trading of semiconductor, the trading 
of monocrystalline silicon solar cells and others (“Segment 
C”).

No operating segments have been aggregated to form these 
reportable segments. Revenue, costs and expenses are allocated 
to those reportable segments with reference to sales generated 
by those segments and the costs and expenses incurred by those 
segments.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating 
resources between segments, the Group’s CODM monitors 
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable 
segment on the basis as they are presented in the Group’s financial 
statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to 
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then 
prevailing market prices.
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4.  

* 

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as 
provided to the Group’s CODM for the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023 is set out below:

Segment A Segment B Segment C Total
A B C    

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

          

Revenue from external customers 3,529,839 7,021,656 129,947 128,667 46,412 42,530 3,706,198 7,192,853
Intersegment revenue 4,218,189 5,255,525 38,407 23,286 228,745 251,252 4,485,341 5,530,063          

Reportable segment revenue 7,748,028 12,277,181 168,354 151,953 275,157 293,782 8,191,539 12,722,916
          

Reportable segment (loss)/profit (246,481) 168,498 10,138 130 9,347 (26,960) (226,996) 141,668
          

Reportable segment assets 2,339,565 3,482,596 311,084 257,192 1,332,380 1,928,407 3,983,029 5,668,195
          

Reportable segment liabilities 2,200,077 3,411,269 194,998 158,533 625,522 905,284 3,020,597 4,475,086
          

Other segment information:

Segment A Segment B Segment C Total
A B C    

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

          

Interest income from bank deposits 10,161 19,677 25 91 1,826 14,326 12,012 34,094
Finance costs (38,439) (41,047) (8,298) (8,334) (13,262) (21,737) (59,999) (71,118)
Depreciation and amortisation (145,686) (148,010) (5,491) (2,741) (9,876) (8,036) (161,053) (158,787)
Investment in associates 1,102 1,000 200 1,102 1,200
Reversal of impairment losses/

(impairment losses) on financial and 
contract assets 7,844 12,669 (4,502) (385) 196 367 3,538 12,651

Reversal of write-down/(write-down) of 
inventories 26,405 42,184 (935) (1,950) (77) 23,520 42,107

Capital expenditure* * 60,328 50,720 113,918 9,651 2,150 24,104 176,396 84,475
          

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and 

equipment.



138 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.  4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)

Geographic information

Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets, and interests in associates are located or 
operated in Mainland China.

The following table sets out information about the Group’s 
revenue from external customers by geographical location. The 
geographical location of a customer is based on the locations of 
the customers.

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Mainland China 3,172,582 5,981,401    

Export sales
 Japan  364,145 936,124
 Europe  137,683 122,170
 Asia (excluding Japan)  30,680 86,882
 Others  1,108 66,276    

Sub-total 533,616 1,211,452    

Total 3,706,198 7,192,853
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4.  

10%

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from a single 
customer, including a group of entities which are known to be 
under common control with that customer, which amounted to 
10% or more to the Group’s total revenue, is set out below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer A A
 From Segment A  A 152,319 1,315,111

    

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer B B
 From Segment A and C  A C 1,241,600

    

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer C C
 From Segment A  A 512,150 981,919
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4.  4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)

Information about major customers (continued)

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer D D
 From Segment A  A 708,630 1,026,475

    

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer E E
 From Segment A  A 427,682 147,713

    

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer F F
 From Segment A  A 394,317 233,512
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5. REVENUE
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Manufacture and trading of photovoltaic 
modules 3,527,729 5,779,995

Manufacture and trading of semiconductor, 
the trading of monocrystalline silicon solar 
cells and others

 

46,412 42,488
Construction and operation of photovoltaic 

power plants 129,947 128,667
Processing services* * 2,110 1,241,703    

Total 3,706,198 7,192,853
    

* In previous years, the Group provided the photovoltaic modules 

processing services to the subsidiaries of a listed group, which expanded 

its own production capacity by year 2023. Therefore, the Group did not 

provide the processing services to that customer this year.

5. 

* 
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5. 

(i) 

5. REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Segment A Segment B Segment C Total
A B C

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Types of goods and service
Sale of industrial products 3,527,729 8,211 46,412 3,582,352
Processing service 2,110 2,110
Construction services 121,736 121,736      

Total 3,529,839 129,947 46,412 3,706,198      

Geographical markets
Mainland China 2,996,223 129,947 46,412 3,172,582
Japan 364,145 364,145
Europe 137,683 137,683
Asia (excluding Japan) 30,680 30,680
Other 1,108 1,108      

Total 3,529,839 129,947 46,412 3,706,198      

Timing of revenue 
recognition

Goods transferred at a point 
in time 3,527,729 8,211 46,412 3,582,352

Services transferred over time 2,110 121,736 123,846      

Total 3,529,839 129,947 46,412 3,706,198
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5. 

(i) 

5. REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segment A Segment B Segment C Total
A B C

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Types of goods and service
Sale of industrial products 5,779,995 4,479 42,488 5,826,962
Processing service 1,241,661 42 1,241,703
Construction services 124,188 124,188      

Total 7,021,656 128,667 42,530 7,192,853      

Geographical markets
Mainland China 5,810,204 128,667 42,530 5,981,401
Japan 936,124 936,124
Europe 122,170 122,170
Asia (excluding Japan) 86,882 86,882
Other 66,276 66,276      

Total 7,021,656 128,667 42,530 7,192,853      

Timing of revenue 
recognition

Goods transferred at a point 
in time 5,779,995 4,479 42,488 5,826,962

Services transferred over time 1,241,661 124,188 42 1,365,891      

Total 7,021,656 128,667 42,530 7,192,853
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5. REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue 
recognised in the current reporting period that were 
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of 
the reporting period and recognised from performance 
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Revenue recognised that was included in 
contract liabilities at the beginning of 
the reporting period:

Sale of industrial products 35,633 318,662
Construction services 2,363 10,356    

Total 37,996 329,018
    

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is 
summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the acceptance 
of industrial products by customers and payment is generally 
due within 30 to 90 days from delivery, except for new 
customers and small-sized customers, where payment in 
advance is normally required.

Processing service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services 
are rendered and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 
days after customer acceptance.

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services 
are rendered. Payment in advance is normally required at the 
beginning of the service, and progress payment is generally 
due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing.

5. 

(i) 

(ii) 

30 90

30 90

30 90
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5. 

(ii) 

6. 

(i) 

21,458,000

(ii) 
11,034,000

5. REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

Construction services (continued)

The transact ion pr ices a l located to the remaining 
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) 
as at 31 December are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Sale of industrial products 34,429 35,633
Construction services 28 2,363    

Within one year 34,457 37,996
    

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Other income
Government grants 72,575 63,401
Interest income from bank deposits 12,012 34,094    

84,587 97,495    

Other gains/(losses), net
Net foreign exchange gain 3,793 30,999
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment (i) (i) 19,794 (711)
Gain from sales of other materials 2,130 4,264
Gain on disposal of investment in an 

associate 52
Share of profits of associates 102
Others (ii) (ii) 14,118 8,513    

39,989 43,065    

Other income and gains, net 124,576 140,560
    

(i) In March 2024, Shanghai Jingji Electronic Materials Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the disposal of its plants 
which were built before year 2010 to the local government, with the 
disposal gain of RMB21,458,000.

(ii) Including receipt of the trade receivables of RMB11,034,000 that had 
been written off in previous years.
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7. 7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is 
arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(a) Staff costs (including directors’ 
remuneration) (i)

(a) (i)

Salaries, wages and other benefits 237,709 274,032
Contributions to retirement schemes 21,986 23,343    

Total 259,695 297,375
    

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(b) Auditors’ remuneration (b) 

Audit services 2,440 2,750
Non-audit services 204 256    

Total 2,644 3,006
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7. 

(i) 

324,290,000

344,649,000

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(c) Other items (c) 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12,641 7,773
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (i)
 

(i) 148,412 151,014
Reversal of write-down of inventories (23,520) (42,107)
(Reversal of provision)/provision for 

warranty
 

(28,725) 35,604
Research and development costs 18,642 63,749
Reversal of impairment losses on 

financial and contract assets (3,538) (12,651)
Impairment losses of property, plant 

and equipment 107,932
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of 

property, plant and equipment (19,794) 711
Cost of inventories sold (i) (i) 3,509,719 5,459,114
Cost of services rendered (i) (i) 92,440 1,275,736
Interest income from bank deposits (12,012) (34,094)
Gain on disposal of investment in an 

associate 52
Share of profits of associates 102
    

(i) Cost of inventories sold and cost of services rendered include, in 

aggregate, RMB324,290,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(2023: RMB344,649,000), relating to staff costs and depreciation.
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8. 

9. 
383(1)(a)

(b) (c) (f)
2

8. FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Interest on bank and other loans wholly 
repayable within five years 57,197 69,253

Interest on lease liabilities 2,802 1,865    

Total interest expenses on financial liabilities 
not at fair value through profit or loss 59,999 71,118

    

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the 
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Fees 327 324
Other emoluments:
  Salaries, allowances, bonus and benefits  

 in kind
 

3,332 3,554
 Retirement scheme contributions  16 16    

3,348 3,570    

Total 3,675 3,894
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9. 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

2024

    

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances, 

bonus and 
benefits 

in kind

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Executive directors

Tan Wenhua 809 809
Tan Xin (chief executive) 1,777 16 1,793
Wang Junze 322 322

Non-executive director

Hsu You Yuan 424 424

Independent non-executive 
 directors

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert 109 109
Chung Wai Hang 109 109
Tan Ying 109 109      

Total 327 3,332 16 3,675
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9. 

( )

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

2023

    

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances, 
bonus and 

benefits 
in kind

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Executive directors

Tan Wenhua 864 864
Tan Xin (chief executive) 1,621 16 1,637
Wang Junze 367 367

Non-executive director

Hsu You Yuan 702 702

Independent non-executive 
 directors

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert 108 108
Chung Wai Hang 108 108
Tan Ying 108 108      

Total 324 3,554 16 3,894
      

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments was 
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or 
upon joining or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil) and 
there was no arrangement under which a director or the chief 
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 
year (2023: Nil).



151ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. 

9

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three 
(2023: three) directors including the chief executive whose 
remuneration are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the 
remuneration in respect of the remaining two (2023: two) highest 
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the 
Company is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Basic salaries, allowances, bonus and 
 benefits in kind  1,622 1,783
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 32 32    

Total 1,654 1,815
    

The remuneration of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid 
are within the following:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 1 1
Above HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 1 1    

Total 2 2
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11. 
(a) 

(b) 

11. INCOME TAX
(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

represents:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Current tax  the PRC   
Provision for the year 11,432 24,122
Over provision in respect of prior years (4,989) (11,128)    

6,443 12,994
Deferred tax (note 19) 19 (11,658) 2,468    

Income tax (credit)/expense (5,215) 15,462
    

Total (5,215) 15,462
    

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit 
before tax at the statutory rate for the country in which the 
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled 
to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(Loss)/profit before taxation (232,211) 157,130    

Tax at the statutory tax rate (58,053) 39,283
    

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,377 1,636
Tax effect of non-taxable income (2,298) (1,355)
Effect of differential tax rates (note(ii)) (ii) 5,182 631
Effect of tax concessions obtained 

(note(iii))
 

(iii) 18,393 (22,371)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and 

temporary differences not recognised 41,566 6,428
Utilisation of unused tax loss and 

temporary differences not recognised 
in previous periods (7,378) (623)

Effect of withholding tax on the 
distributable profits of the Group’s 
PRC subsidiaries (1,015) 2,961

Adjustments in respect of current tax of 
previous periods (note(iv))

 
(iv) (4,989) (11,128)    

Tax charge at the Group effective rate
(5,215) 15,462
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11. 
(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

16.5% 16.5%

15%

15%

11. INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) (continued)

Notes:

(i) The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules. The 

Group has applied the mandatory exception to recognising and 

disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities 

arising from Pillar Two “top-up” taxes, and will account for the 

Pillar Two “top-up” taxes as current tax when incurred. Pillar 

Two legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted as at 

31 December 2024 in certain jurisdictions in which the Group 

operates.

The Group has assessed its potential exposure based on the 

information available regarding the financial performance of 

the Group in the current year. As such, it may not be entirely 

representative of future circumstances. Based on the assessment, 

the Group does not expect a material exposure to Pillar Two 

“top-up” taxes in which it operates where Pillar Two legislation 

is both enacted and in effect or substantively enacted, and 

the directors of the Company are not currently aware of any 

circumstances under which they might change.

The Group cont inues to fo l low P i l l a r  Two leg i s la t i ve 

developments, as more countries prepare to enact the Pillar 

Two model rules, to evaluate the potential future impact on its 

financial statements.

(ii) Hong Kong profits tax was calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) 

of the estimated assessable profits of the Company’s subsidiaries 

incorporated in Hong Kong during the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman 

Islands and the British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income 

tax pursuant to the local rules and regulations of their respective 

countries of incorporation.

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary 

incorporated in Germany was 15% for the year ended 31 

December 2024 (2023: 15%). No provision for German income 

tax has been made as the subsidiary incorporated in Germany 

did not have any taxable profits for the year ended 31 December 

2024 (2023: Nil).
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11. 
(b) 

 

(ii) 

35%

35%

25%

25%

(iii) 

25%

15%

15%

15%

15%

15%

15%

11 INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary 

incorporated in Ghana was 35% for the year ended 31 December 

2024 (2023: 35%). No provision for Ghana income tax has been 

made as the subsidiary incorporated in Ghana did not have any 

taxable profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary 

incorporated in Australia was 25% for the year ended 31 

December 2024 (2023: 25%). No provision for Australia income 

tax has been made as the subsidiary incorporated in Australia 

did not have any taxable profits for the year ended 31 December 

2024 (2023: Nil).

(iii) The income tax rate of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% 

except for the subsidiaries mentioned below:

Jinzhou Yangguang has been accredited as “High and New 

Technology Enterprise” by the relevant government authority 

since 2012, and has been registered with the local tax authority 

to be eligible for a reduced income tax rate of 15%. “High and 

New Technology Enterprise” certificate need to be renewed every 

three years. Jinzhou Yangguang has renewed the certificate in 

2024 effective for a term of three years. Accordingly, Jinzhou 

Yangguang was entitled to the 15% income tax rate for 2024 

and 2023.

Jiangsu Yueyang has been accredited as “High and New 

Technology Enterprise” by the relevant government authority in 

2024 for a term of three years, and has been registered with the 

local tax authority to be eligible for a reduced income tax rate 

of 15%. Accordingly, Jiangsu Yueyang was entitled to the 15% 

income tax rate for 2024 and 2023.

Boxinke has been accredited as “High and New Technology 

Enterprise” by the relevant government authority in 2024 for a 

term of three years, and has been registered with the local tax 

authority to be eligible for a reduced income tax rate of 15%. 

Accordingly, Boxinke was entitled to the 15% income tax rate for 

2024 and 2023.
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11. 
(b) 

 

(iii) 

15%

(iv) 

1,043,840,000

5

60,405,000

20,135,000

12. 

11 INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) (continued)

Jiangsu Zhiding has been accredited as “High and New 

Technology Enterprise” by the relevant government authority 

in 2023 for a term of three years, and has been registered with 

the local tax authority to be eligible for a reduced income tax 

rate of 15%. Moreover, the main business of Jiangsu Zhiding is 

construction and operation of photovoltaic system. According to 

the Catalogue of Income Tax Incentives for Public Infrastructure 

Projects issued by the Ministry of Finance, the income from 

investment and operation of projects such as ports and wharves, 

airports, railways, highways, urban public transportation, electric 

power, and water conservancy is exempt from income tax for the 

first three profit-making years and reduced by half for the fourth 

to sixth profit-making years since the year obtained operating 

income. The photovoltaic system construction project of Jiangsu 

Zhiding is under the scope of the above catalogue, and Jiangsu 

Zhiding obtained operating income for the first time in 2021. 

Therefore, Jiangsu Zhiding was entitled to the three-year period 

of exemption from corporate income tax during 2023, and the 

fourth to sixth year-period of a 50% reduction of corporate 

income tax during 2024.

(iv) It mainly represented the reversal of income tax expenses arising 

from the difference between annual tax filing and income tax 

provision of Jinzhou Yangguang for the year 2022. Yangguang 

New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Qujing Yangguang”), a former non-

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was disposed of on 

30 December 2022. The disposal gain of Qujing Yangguang 

was RMB1,043,840,000 which was against the latest 5 years’ 

accumulated tax losses of Jinzhou Yangguang in calculating 

annual income tax provision in year 2022. Being a High and New 

Technology Enterprise, the tax losses are allowed to be carried 

forward up to 10 years, the total financial impact of Jinzhou 

Yangguang was RMB60,405,000, and the income tax credit was 

RMB20,135,000 for the current year.

12. DIVIDENDS
The board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for the 
year ended 31 December 2024.
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13. 
 

(a) 

227,084,000
111,906,000

3,323,771,133
3,323,771,133

(b) 

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is 
based on the loss attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the parent of RMB227,084,000 (2023: Profit 
of RMB111,906,000) and the weighted average of 
3,323,771,133 (2023: 3,323,771,133) ordinary shares of 
the Company in issue during the year.

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent (227,084) 111,906

    

Number of shares

2024 2023

    

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares 3,323,771,133 3,323,771,133

    

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings 
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the 
Group had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue 
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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14. 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction 
in progress Buildings

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
and fittings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Cost:

At 1 January 2024 155,684 429,407 1,437,683 28,378 45,049 2,096,201
Additions 115,809 58,222 177 2,188 176,396
Disposals (63,031) (11,370) (3,549) (749) (150) (78,849)
Transfer (89,654) 89,316 231 107
Exchange adjustments (70) (70)        

At 31 December 2024 118,808 418,037 1,581,672 28,037 47,124 2,193,678
        

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses:

At 1 January 2024 (80,684) (160,460) (1,044,166) (16,954) (37,536) (1,339,800)
Depreciation for the year (11,446) (130,650) (3,166) (3,150) (148,412)
Written back on disposals 8,162 2,244 701 138 11,245
Provisions for impairment losses (107,932) (107,932)
Exchange adjustments 35 35        

At 31 December 2024 (80,684) (163,744) (1,280,504) (19,419) (40,513) (1,584,864)
        

Net book value:

At 31 December 2024 38,124 254,293 301,168 8,618 6,611 608,814
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14.  14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)

Construction 
in progress Buildings

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
and fittings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Cost:

At 1 January 2023 138,842 424,390 1,439,912 23,656 40,581 2,067,381
Additions 54,098 5,017 13,860 6,259 5,241 84,475
Disposals (726) (51,691) (2,465) (805) (55,687)
Transfer (37,256) 726 35,602 928
Exchange adjustments 32 32        

At 31 December 2023 155,684 429,407 1,437,683 28,378 45,049 2,096,201
        

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses:

At 1 January 2023 (80,684) (147,407) (955,060) (16,446) (35,829) (1,235,426)
Depreciation for the year (13,174) (132,829) (2,602) (2,409) (151,014)
Written back on disposals 121 43,723 2,094 734 46,672
Exchange adjustments (32) (32)        

At 31 December 2023 (80,684) (160,460) (1,044,166) (16,954) (37,536) (1,339,800)
        

Net book value:

At 31 December 2023 75,000 268,947 393,517 11,424 7,513 756,401
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14.  

(i) 

192,451,000

516,661,000

25

10,984,000

12,172,000

(ii) 

107,932,000

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings 

were secured by certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment 

(note 25), which had an aggregate net book value of RMB192,451,000 

(31 December 2023: RMB516,661,000).

Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are located 

in Mainland China.

The Group has been applying for the property ownership certificates 

for certain buildings included in property, plant and equipment with an 

aggregate net book value of RMB10,984,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 

December 2023: RMB12,172,000). Notwithstanding this, the directors 

are of the opinion that the Group owned the beneficial title to these 

buildings as at 31 December 2024.

(ii) Due to the change of production plan and other factors, certain asset 

groups of the Group were in the status of operating losses or temporary 

idleness. The Group considered that there were indicators of impairment in 

these asset groups and assessed for impairment. Management performed 

impairment assessment by determining the recoverable amount of the 

relevant cash-generating unit based on the value-in-use calculation or the 

fair value less cost of disposal according to independent appraisal reports. 

As a result, an impairment provision of RMB107,932,000 was recognised 

for property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 

2024 (2023: Nil).

Management performed impairment assessment by determining the 

recoverable amount of the relevant CGU based on the value-in-use 

calculation or the fair value less cost of disposal according to appraisal 

reports. The key assumptions for fair value less cost of disposal method 

include market price of the disposal assets. The key assumptions for 

future cash flow method include product prices (as well as revenue 

growth rates) and discount rates. The Group estimates the product 

prices and growth rate of revenue based on historical experience and 

market development. The after-tax discount rates reflect specific risks 

related to the CGU. Key assumptions of discounted cash flow models for 

impairment testing are as follows: 

Average annual growth 

rate of revenue 

during the 

forecast period After-tax discount rate

    
Photovoltaic modules Facilities (1.84%)-13.88% 12%
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15. 

16. 

50

2 10

15. GOODWILL

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cost:

At 1 January and 31 December 208,237 208,237    

Accumulated impairment losses:

At 1 January and 31 December (208,237) (208,237)    

Carrying amount:

At 31 December –
    

The goodwill was fully impaired during the year ended 31 
December 2012.

16. LEASES
The Group as a lessee 

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office buildings 
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to 
acquire the leasehold lands from the owners with lease periods of 
50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms 
of these land leases. Leases of office buildings generally have lease 
terms between 2 and 10 years.  Generally, the Group is restricted 
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.  
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16. 

(a) 

16. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and 
the movements during the year are as follows:

Leasehold 
lands

Office 
buildings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

As at 1 January 2023 95,120 23,178 118,298
Additions 5,515 5,515
Depreciation charge (2,718) (5,055) (7,773)     

As at 31 December 2023  
and 1 January 2024

 
 

92,402 23,638 116,040
Additions 27,994 27,994
Termination (2,089) (2,089)
Depreciation charge (2,759) (9,882) (12,641)     

As at 31 December 2024  
89,643 39,661 129,304
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16. 

(b) 

39(b)

(c) 

(d) 34(c)

16. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements 
during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Carrying amount at 1 January 27,180 25,992
New leases 27,994 5,515
Accretion of interest recognised during 

the year 2,802 1,865
Payments (11,816) (6,192)
Termination (79)    

Carrying amount at 31 December 46,081 27,180
    

Analysed into:
Current portion 8,207 3,967
Non-current portion 37,874 23,213

    

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 
39(b) to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases 
are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Interest on lease liabilities 2,802 1,865
Depreciation charge of right-of-use 

assets 12,641 7,773    

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 15,443 9,638
    

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 34(c).
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17. 17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Share of net assets 1,102 1,200
    

The following list contains particulars of the associates which are 
unlisted corporate entities:

Name of associate

Form of 
business 
structure

Place of 
establishment 
and business

Registered and 
paid-in capital

Percentage 
of equity 

attributable 
to the Group Principal activities

%
      

Jinzhou Chengguang New Energy  
Technology Co., Ltd.

Incorporated PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-in capital 
of RMB10,000,000

10,000,000

49 Construction of photovoltaic 
power plants

Jiangsu Oriental Huida New Energy  
Technology Co., Ltd.

Incorporated PRC/Mainland China Registered capital of 
RMB20,000,000 and paid-in 

capital of RMB4,700,000
20,000,000

4,700,000

30 Construction of photovoltaic 
power plants

Liaoning Yangguang Energy Power Co., Ltd. 
(“Liaoning Yangguang”)

Incorporated PRC/Mainland China Registered capital of 
RMB10,000,000 and paid-in 

capital of RMB3,400,000
10,000,000

3,400,000

14 Construction of photovoltaic 
power plants
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17. 

18. 
 

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity 
shares held through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Equity investments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

 

Dongyao New Energy (Qujing) Co., Ltd. 3,841 3,700
    

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at fair 
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers 
this investment to be strategic in nature.



165ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. 19. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year 
are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

2024

Deferred 
income

Provision 
for warranties

Deductible 
losses

Allowance for 
doubtful debt

Write-down 
of inventories Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

At 1 January 2024 1,441 6,405 606 3,091 337 11,880

Deferred tax (charged)/credited to 
the statement of profit or loss 
during the year

 

(720) (1,411) 7,640 (432) (2,532) 674 3,219         

At 31 December 2024 721 4,994 7,640 174 559 1,011 15,099
         

Deferred tax liabilities

2024

Fair value 
adjustments 
on business 

combination
Withholding 

Tax Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 1 January 2024 2,272 8,446 3 10,721

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to  
the statement of profit or loss 
during the year

 

(74) (8,446) 81 (8,439)      

At 31 December 2024 2,198 84 2,282
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19. 19. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

2023

 

Deferred 
income

Provision for 
warranties

Allowance 
for doubtful 

debt
Write-down 

of inventories Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

At 31 December 2022 2,162 5,388 1,974 7,316 16,840
Effect of adoption of amendments to 

IAS12/HKAS 12
12  

12
267 267        

At 1 January 2023 (restated) 2,162 5,388 1,974 7,316 267 17,107
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the 

statement of profit or loss during 
the year

 

(721) 1,017 (1,368) (4,225) 70 (5,227)        

At 31 December 2023 1,441 6,405 606 3,091 337 11,880
        

Deferred tax liabilities

2023

 
Fair value 

adjustments 
on business 

combination
Withholding 

Tax Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 31 December 2022 2,345 11,132 13,477
Effect of adoption of amendments  

to IAS12/HKAS 12
12  

12  
3 3      

At 1 January 2023 (restated) ( ) 2,345 11,132 3 13,480
Deferred tax credited to the 

statement of profit or loss during 
the year (73) (2,686) (2,759)      

At 31 December 2023 2,272 8,446 3 10,721
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19. 

482,130,000
629,602,000

126,618,000
71,702,000

274,260,000

220,458,000

126,618,000
71,702,000

482,130,000
629,602,000

10%

5%
10%

19. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the 
following items:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Tax losses 608,748 701,304
Deductible temporary differences 274,260 220,458    

Total 883,008 921,762
    

At 31 December 2024, the Group has not recognised deferred 
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of RMB482,130,000 (31 
December 2023: RMB629,602,000) and RMB126,618,000 (31 
December 2023: RMB71,702,000) attributable to its subsidiaries 
in Mainland China and Hong Kong, respectively, and also 
certain deductible temporary differences of RMB274,260,000 
(31 December 2023: RMB220,458,000), as it is not probable 
that future taxable profits against which the losses or deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised will be available in the 
relevant tax jurisdictions and entities.

Included in the unrecognised tax losses, RMB126,618,000 (31 
December 2023: RMB71,702,000) may be carried forward 
indefinitely and the remaining balance RMB482,130,000 (31 
December 2023: RMB629,602,000) from subsidiaries in Mainland 
China will expire at various dates up to 2029.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% 
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors 
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland 
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and 
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding 
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland 
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, 
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for 
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries 
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated 
from 1 January 2008.
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20. INVENTORIES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Materials and supplies 87,465 151,648
Finished goods 289,387 175,115    

Total 376,852 326,763
    

21. TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 
ASSETS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade receivables 1,279,165 1,731,589
Bills receivable 418,492 287,397    

1,697,657 2,018,986
Impairment (45,214) (44,334)    

Total 1,652,443 1,974,652
    

The Group normally grant a credit period of 30 to 90 days to its 
customers. However, regarding domestic photovoltaic module 
sales, some trade receivables are granted longer credit period of up 
to 180 days depending on the construction period of photovoltaic 
power plants. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The 
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise 
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior 
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the 
Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified 
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The 
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements 
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts due from 
the Group’s associates of RMB15,851,000 (2023: RMB17,954,000), 
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the 
major customers of the Group.

20. 

21. 

30 90

180

15,851,000
17,954,000
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21. 

18,000,000 1,880,000
16,153,000

23,059,000
1,880,000

16,153,000

21. TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 
ASSETS (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end 
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss 
allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within 1 year 1,296,199 1,773,007
1 to 2 years 255,775 136,174
2 to 3 years 52,843 55,817
Over 3 years 47,626 9,654    

Total 1,652,443 1,974,652
    

As at 31 December 2024, there was no bills receivable had been 
pledged as security to banks for issuing bills payable to suppliers.

As at 31 December 2024, borrowings amounting to nil (31 
December 2023: RMB18,000,000) and RMB1,880,000 (31 
December 2023: RMB16,153,000) were secured by certain of 
the Group’s trade receivables and bills receivable with a carrying 
amount of ni l (31 December 2023: RMB23,059,000) and 
RMB1,880,000 (31 December 2023: RMB16,153,000) respectively.

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Contract assets arising from:
Sale of industrial products 101,273 181,947
Construction services 32,234 39,654    

133,507 221,601
Impairment (3,781) (8,199)    

Total 129,726 213,402
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21. 21. TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 
ASSETS (continued)

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from the 
sale of industrial products and the provision of related construction 
services as the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful 
completion of delivery of the industrial products and construction, 
respectively. Included in quality guarantees for the sale of industrial 
products and contract assets for construction services are retention 
receivables. Upon completion of delivery or construction and 
acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as contract 
assets are reclassified to trade receivables. The decrease in contract 
assets in 2024 is due to the expiration of quality guarantee 
receivables on the sale of industrial products during the year.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets 
as at 31 December is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within 1 year 133,507 221,601
    

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade, bills 
receivables and contract assets are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At the beginning of year 52,533 65,184
Reversal of impairment losses (note 7) 7 (3,538) (12,651)    

At the end of year 48,995 52,533
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21. TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 
ASSETS (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using 
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision 
rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the 
contract assets are based on those of the trade receivables as 
the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the same 
customer bases. The Group has established a provision matrix 
that is based on the ageing of balances for groupings of various 
customers with similar loss patterns, repayment histories, and 
existing customer-specific and market conditions, and also taking 
into consideration of forward-looking information, including the 
forecast of industry situation and overall economic conditions. 
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more 
than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

The following table provides information about the Group’s 
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and contract 
assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

As at 31 December 2024

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Within 1 year 0.62% 980,483 6,073
Between 1 and 2 years 1.92% 294,281 5,656
Between 2 and 3 years 9.87% 58,790 5,804
Over 3 years 39.77% 79,118 31,462     

Total 1,412,672 48,995
     

21. 
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21. 

22. 

21. TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 
ASSETS (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Within 1 year 0.97% 1,677,201 16,213
Between 1 and 2 years 5.06% 147,399 7,452
Between 2 and 3 years 11.93% 94,730 11,298
Over 3 years 51.89% 33,860 17,570     

Total 1,953,190 52,533
     

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 
OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Prepayments for raw materials 88,386 122,363
Deductible value-added tax 85,255 71,693
Other receivables 72,516 86,982    

246,157 281,038
Impairment allowance    

Total 246,157 281,038
    

Other receivables mainly represent deposits and receivables from 
sales of property, plant and equipment, and an impairment analysis 
is performed at each reporting date by considering the probability 
of default.



173ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

31 December 2024 
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( )

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. 

1.58
1.26

956,201,000

1,648,349,000
692,148,000

725,119,000

231,082,000

23. PLEDGED DEPOSITS
Certain of the Group’s bank deposits were pledged to secure bank 
loans and other banking facilities granted to the Group as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Pledged as security for bills payable 510,139 1,346,754
Other 840 11,246    

Total 510,979 1,358,000
    

The effective annual interest rate for pledged deposits with banks 
was 1.58% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 1.26%).

The Group mainly issues bank acceptance bills to settle the trade 
payables due to suppliers with pledged deposits. To reflect the 
decreased pledged deposits required by the banks of the Group’s 
settlement of trade payables in recent years, as of 31 December 
2024, the Group recorded such deposits as release of pledged 
deposits in cash flows generated from operating activities, as 
compared to cash flows generated from financing activities in prior 
years. The comparative amounts of the release of pledged deposits 
in the amount of RMB956,201,000 in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the prior year were reclassified accordingly. As 
a result of such reclassification, net cash flows used in operating 
activities was RMB1,648,349,000 before the reclassification, and 
was RMB692,148,000 after the reclassification; and net cash flows 
generated from financing activities was RMB725,119,000 before 
the reclassification, and net cash flows used in financing activities 
was RMB231,082,000 after the reclassification.
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24. 

215,761,000
474,484,000

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cash and bank balances 270,699 578,364
    

Cash and bank balances totalling RMB215,761,000 (31 December 
2023: RMB474,484,000) as at 31 December 2024 were 
denominated in RMB. The RMB is not freely convertible into other 
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange 
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and 
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted 
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to 
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest either at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates or at a fixed rate based on an agreement.
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25.  25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 
BORROWINGS

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

  

Notes

Effective 
interest 

rate 
(%) Maturity RMB’000

Effective 
interest 

rate 
(%) Maturity RMB’000

(%) (%)
         

Current:
Bank loans  secured   (a) 4.800-6.050 2025 455,500 5.800-7.500 2024 557,500
 RMB  455,500 557,500
Bank loans  guaranteed   (b) 2.700-5.800 2025 461,514 3.800-6.550 2024 500,845
 RMB  443,400 465,999
 USD  18,114 34,846
Other loans  secured   (c) 1.000-2.000 2025 1,880 1.000-7.500 2024 16,153
 RMB  1,880 16,153
Other loans  guaranteed   (b) 5.000-5.475 2025 6,240 5.000-5.475 2024 5,213
 HKD  2,646 1,672
 USD  3,594 3,541
Current portion of long-term 
 borrowings:
Other loans  secured   (c) 5.000-7.160 2025 27,527 2.500-3.500 2024 115,973
 RMB  27,527 115,973  

Total 952,661 1,195,684
  

Non-current:
Other loans  secured   (c) 5.000-9.300 2026-2029 1,544 5.000-7.160 2025 28,239
 RMB  1,544 28,239  

Total 1,544 28,239
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25.  

(a) 

(i) 

126,906,000

328,705,000

(ii) 

3 , 2 5 6 , 0 0 0

22,320,000

(iii) 

23,059,000

37

(b) 

(c) 

(i) 1,880,000

16,153,000

(ii) 

65,545,000

187,956,000

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a) The bank loans of the Group are secured by:

(i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment with the net book 

value of RMB126,906,000 (2023: RMB328,705,000);

(ii) the Group’s right-of-use assets amounting to RMB3,256,000 

(2023: RMB22,320,000); and

(iii) the Group’s trade receivables was nil (2023: RMB23,059,000), 

further details are disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.

(b) Certain subsidiaries’ borrowings are guaranteed by the other subsidiaries 

of the Group, Mr. Tan Xin or Mr. Tan Wenhua.

(c) Other loans of the Group are secured by:

(i) the Group’s bills receivable amounting to RMB1,880,000 (2023: 

RMB16,153,000); and

(ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment with the net book 

value of RMB65,545,000 (2023: RMB187,956,000).

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Analysed into:

Bank loans repayable:

Within one year or on demand 917,014 1,058,345    

Other borrowings repayable:

Within one year 35,647 137,339

In the following years 1,544 28,239    

37,191 165,578    

Total 954,205 1,223,923
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26. 

(a) 

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade payables 916,246 932,723
Bills payable 646,938 1,600,633    

Total 1,563,184 2,533,356
    

(a) The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables at the end 
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within 1 month 550,019 386,656
1 to 3 months 410,330 920,098
4 to 6 months 555,024 1,177,078
7 to 12 months 24,139 34,992
Over 1 year 23,672 14,532    

Total 1,563,184 2,533,356
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26. 
(a) 

90

2,326,030,000
2,533,356,000

1,403,010,000
1,195,684,000

(b) 
646,938,000

1,600,633,000

181,813,000
510,139,000

1,346,754,000 23

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

(a) (continued)

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are 
normally settled on 90-day credit terms.

The Group endorsed certain bills receivable to suppliers for 
settlements. As of 31 December 2024, these liabilities are 
recorded as trade payables in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, as compared to interest-bearing bank 
and other borrowings in prior years, due to more utilization 
of this settlement method with suppliers to release more 
operating cash in recent years. Accordingly, the impact on 
the comparative amounts as at 31 December 2023 were as 
follows: trade and bills payables was RMB2,326,030,000 
before reclassification, and was RMB2,533,356,000 after 
reclassification; and interest-bearing bank and other 
borrowings was RMB1,403,010,000 before reclassification, 
and was RMB1,195,684,000 after reclassification.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bills payable of 
RMB646,938,000 (31 December 2023: RMB1,600,633,000) 
were secured by Group’s bills receivable of RMB0 (31 
December 2023: RMB181,813,000) and by Group’s 
pledged deposits of RMB510,139,000 (31 December 2023: 
RMB1,346,754,000). (note 23)
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27. 

28. 

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Payables for acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment

 
40,892 75,767

Payables for other taxes 8,597 10,053
Payables for freight charges 12,301 29,758
Payables for staff-related cost 29,086 27,745
Dividends payable 6,182 6,173
Other payables on behalf of the third-parties 58,007
Other payables and accruals 56,830 84,252    

Total 153,888 291,755
    

The above amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed 
terms of repayment.

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Sale of industrial products 34,429 35,633
Construction services 28 2,363    

Total 34,457 37,996
    

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver 
industrial products and provide construction services. The decrease 
in contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to the settlement of 
payments due for construction services and the decrease of sale of 
industrial products this year.
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29. 

2 5 10
25

10%
20%

10

10% 20%

29. PROVISION

Provision for 
warranties

RMB’000

   

At 1 January 2023 162,455   

Provision 35,604
Utilisation (6,844)   

At 31 December 2023 191,215
   

At 1 January 2024 191,215   

Reversal (28,725)
Utilisation (14,599)   

At 31 December 2024 147,891
   

Portion classified as current liabilities 1,367   

Non-current portion 146,524
   

The Group’s photovoltaic modules are typically sold with a 2-year 
or 5-year warranty for defects in materials and workmanship, and 
a 10-year or 25-year minimum power output warranty against 
declines of initial power generation capacity of more than 10% 
and 20%, respectively from the date of receipts. The Group has 
the obligation to repair or replace solar modules, under the terms 
of the warranty policy. The Group maintains warranty reserves to 
cover potential liabilities that could arise under these warranties.

The Group began to sell photovoltaic modules from the year of 
2010. Up to now, the Group has continuously engaged in sales 
business of photovoltaic modules for over 10 years. According to 
the mathematical statistics of quality compensation starting from 
selling photovoltaic modules, the Group has not made any quality 
compensation due to declines of initial power generation capacity 
of more than 10% and 20% from the date of receipt or defects in 
materials and workmanship.
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30. 

31. 

20%

5%
30,000

30. DEFERRED INCOME
Various government grants have been received by the Group 
for participating in high-tech industry and constructing various 
manufacture and photovoltaic power plants in Jinzhou, Liaoning 
Province, and Yancheng, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

Those government grants related to assets are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position initially as deferred 
income and are amortised to profit or loss as other income over 
the useful lives of the assets.

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to 
participate in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme 
administered and operated by the local municipal government. The 
Group’s PRC subsidiaries were required to make contributions to 
the scheme at 20% of the employees’ salaries per annum to fund 
the retirement benefits of the employees. Contributions to the 
scheme vest immediately, and there is no forfeited contribution 
that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of 
contribution. 

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the 
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction 
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a 
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent 
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees 
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the 
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant 
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest 
immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment 
of retirement benefits associated with the schemes beyond the 
contributions described above.
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32. 32. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised and issued share capital

2024 2023

No. of shares ’000 No. of shares ’000

      

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 0.1 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000
Equivalent to RMB450,000 RMB450,000      

Ordinary shares, issued and  
fully paid:

At 1 January 3,323,771,133 RMB285,924 3,323,771,133 RMB285,924      

At 31 December 3,323,771,133 RMB285,924 3,323,771,133 RMB285,924
      

The information about the Company’s ordinary shares is set out 
below:

No. of shares 
issued and
fully paid Amount

RMB’000

    

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023
3,323,771,133 285,924
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33. 
(1) 

(2) 

10%

25%

(3) 

(4) 

2.4

(5) 

33. RESERVES
(1) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed 
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share 
premium is distributable.

(2) General reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and the articles of 
association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in 
the PRC, these PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer a 
minimum of 10% of their distributable profits after taxation 
based on their PRC statutory financial statements to the 
general reserve fund until the balance of the fund is at 
least half of the paid-in capital of the relevant subsidiaries. 
The amounts allocated to this reserve are determined by 
the respective boards of directors with reference to the 
minimum requirement.

For the entities concerned, the general reserve fund can be 
converted into capital in proportion to the equity holders’ 
existing equity holdings, provided that the balance after such 
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

(3) Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of shares allotted 
and issued over the subscription costs and share options 
granted to employees of the Group.

(4) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all exchange differences 
arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
the group companies into the presentation currency. The 
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in note 2.4.

(5) Other reserve

Other reserve mainly represents the differences between 
considerations of acquisitions of equity interests from non-
controlling equity owners and the carrying amount of the 
proportionate net assets.
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34.  

(a) 

27,994,000
5,515,000 27,994,000

5,515,000

(b) 

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB27,994,000 
(2023: RMB5,515,000) and RMB27,994,000 (2023: 
RMB5,515,000),  respect i ve ly ,  in respect  of  lease 
arrangements for plant and machinery.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities

Interest-bearing
borrowings

Lease 
Liabilities

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At 1 January 2024 1,223,923 27,180
Changes from financing cash flows (326,915) (11,816)
New leases – 27,994
Interest expense 57,197 2,802
Termination (79)    

At 31 December 2024 954,205 46,081
    

Interest-bearing
borrowings

Lease 
Liabilities

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At 1 January 2023 1,131,425 25,992
Changes from financing cash flows 23,245 (6,192)
New leases 5,515
Interest expense 69,253 1,865    

At 31 December 2023 1,223,923 27,180
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34.  

(c) 

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement 
of cash flows is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within operating activities 5,924 8,144
Within financing activities 11,816 6,192    

Total 17,740 14,336
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had no significant capital commitment as at 31 
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group had the following transactions with related parties 
during the year:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Salaries, allowances, bonus and  
benefits in kind 3,332 3,554

Retirement scheme contributions 16 16    

Total 3,348 3,570
    

35. 

36. 

(a) 
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36. 
(b) 

(i) 

14A

14A.76

14A

(ii) 

14A

(iii) 

14A

14A.90

14A

(iv) 

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transactions with a director of the Company, 
associates of the Group and entities controlled by 
the directors of the Company

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

The entities controlled by the directors of 
the Company
Sales of goods (i) (i) 1,412 1,526
Sales of electricity (i) (i) 1,697 2,674
Construction and maintenance 

services for power system (i)
 

(i) 575 1,778
Rental income (i) (i) 1,466 1,391
Purchase of goods (i) (i) 1,848 1,663
Rental expenses (i) (i) 767 767
Receipt from disposal of  

Qujing Yangguang (ii)  (ii) 439,321

A director of the Company
Receipt from short-term loan (iii) (iii) 817 864
Interest expense 107 60

    

(i) Each of these related party transactions constitutes de minimis 

connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of 

the Listing Rules and is, pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing 

Rules, fully exempt from the reporting, announcement and 

independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 

14A of the Listing Rules.

(ii) This related party transaction above which was completed on 30 

December 2022 also constitutes connected transaction for the 

Company as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

(iii) This related party transaction constitutes connected transaction 

for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, but is, 

pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, fully exempt from 

the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ 

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules 

as this related party transaction constitutes financial assistance 

received by the Group from a connected person on normal 

commercial terms or better and not secured by assets of the 

Group.

(iv) In the opinion of the directors, the transactions between the 

Group and the related parties were conducted in the ordinary 

and usual course of business and on normal commercial terms, 

and the pricing terms were based on the prevailing market prices.
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36. 
c  

i  

2,857,000

2,646,000

5%

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

The entities controlled by the directors of 
the Company
trade and bills receivables 554 1,019
prepayment, other receivables and 

other assets
 

1,846
trade payables 48 651
other payables 146 146

An associates of the Group:
trade and bills receivables 15,851 17,954

A director of the Company (i) i
short-term loan 2,646 1,672

    

(i) The Group had an outstanding balance due to a director of 

the Company amounted to HK$2,857,000 (equivalent to 

RMB2,646,000) as at the end of the reporting period. This loan is 

unsecured, with a 5% annual interest rate.

Except for the short-term loan from a director of the 
Company, the other balances were unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and repayable on demand. Trade receivables from 
and trade payables to related parties were repayable or to 
be settled on settlement period agreed by both parties.
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37. 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial 
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2024

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value 
through other 

comprehensive income

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost Total

Debt 
investments

Equity 
investments

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Equity investments designated 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 3,841 3,841

Financial assets included in trade 
and bills receivables 121,801 1,530,642 1,652,443

Financial assets included in 
prepayments, other receivables 
and other assets 72,516 72,516

Pledged deposits 510,979 510,979
Cash and cash equivalents 270,699 270,699      

Total 121,801 3,841 2,384,836 2,510,478
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37.  37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
(continued)

2024 (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial 
liabilities at

amortised cost Total

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Lease liabilities 46,081 46,081
Trade and bills payables 1,563,184 1,563,184
Financial liabilities included in other payables 

and accruals 116,205 116,205
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 954,205 954,205    

Total 2,679,675 2,679,675
    

2023

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value 
through other 

comprehensive income

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost Total

Debt 
investments

Equity 
investments

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Equity investments designated 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 3,700 3,700

Financial assets included in trade 
and bills receivables 197,643 1,777,009 1,974,652

Financial assets included in 
prepayments, other receivables 
and other assets 86,982 86,982

Pledged deposits 1,358,000 1,358,000
Cash and cash equivalents 578,364 578,364      

Total 197,643 3,700 3,800,355 4,001,698
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37.  

 

290,495,000
223,479,000

288,615,000
207,326,000

1,880,000
16,153,000

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
(continued)

2023 (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial 
liabilities at

amortised cost Total

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Lease liabilities 27,180 27,180
Trade and bills payables 2,533,356 2,533,356
Financial liabilities included in other payables 

and accruals 253,957 253,957
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,223,923 1,223,923    

Total 4,038,416 4,038,416
    

Transfers of financial assets

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their 
entirety

At 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed and discounted 
certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the 
“Endorsed Bills” and “Discounted Bills”) with a carrying amount 
of RMB290,495,000 (2023: RMB223,479,000) to certain of its 
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers 
(the “Endorsement”) and obtain the cash and cash equivalents 
(the “Discount”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has 
retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default 
risks relating to such Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills, and 
accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts 
of the Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills. Subsequent to the 
Endorsement and Discount, the Group did not retain any rights on 
the use of the Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills, including the 
sale, transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills 
to any other third parties. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate 
carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the Endorsed 
Bills during the year to which the suppliers have recourse was 
RMB288,615,000 (2023: RMB207,326,000), the Group pledged 
the bills receivable of RMB1,880,000 (2023: RMB16,153,000) for 
the short-term borrowings.
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37.  

 

180

23,059,000

18,000,000

 

561,237,000
1,339,542,000

214,381,000
316,965,000

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
(continued)

Transfers of financial assets (continued)

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their 
entirety (continued)

As part of its normal business, the Group entered into a trade 
receivable factoring arrangement (the “Arrangement”) and 
transferred certain trade receivables to a bank. Under the 
Arrangement, the Group may be required to reimburse the bank 
for loss of interest if any trade debtors have late payment up to 
180 days. The Group is not exposed to default risks of the trade 
debtors after the transfer. Subsequent to the transfer, the Group 
did not retain any rights on the use of the trade receivables, 
including the sale, transfer or pledge of the trade receivables to 
any other third parties. The carrying amount of the assets that the 
Group continued to recognise as at 31 December 2024 was nil 
(2023: RMB23,059,000) and that of the associated liabilities as at 
31 December 2024 was nil (2023: RMB18,000,000).

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their 
entirety

At 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed and discounted 
certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the 
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle 
the trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount 
in aggregate of RMB561,237,000 (2023: RMB1,339,542,000) 
and to obtain the cash and cash equivalents amounting to 
RMB214,381,000 (2023: RMB316,965,000). The Derecognised Bills 
had a maturity of one to six months at the end of the reporting 
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in 
the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills may exercise the 
right of recourse against any, several or all of the persons liable for 
the Derecognised Bills, including the Group, disregard of the order 
of precedence (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of 
the directors, the risk of the Group being claimed by the holders of 
the Derecognised Bills is remote in the absence of a default of the 
accepted banks. The Group has transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has 
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills 
and the associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss 
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills 
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised 
Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the 
directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in 
the Derecognised Bills are not significant.
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37.  

 

3,846,000
2,073,000

38.  

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
(continued)

Transfers of financial assets (continued)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their 
entirety (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has 
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the 
Endorsed Bills, and recognised interest expense amounting to 
RMB3,846,000 (2023: RMB2,073,000) on the date of transfer 
of Discounted Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the 
Continuing Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively. The 
endorsement and the discount has been made evenly throughout 
the year.

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities measured 
at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values 
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager 
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for 
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance 
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer and the 
audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department 
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments 
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The 
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer. 
The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit 
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included 
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced 
or liquidation sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing 
bank and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting 
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for 
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. 
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 
as at 31 December 2024 were assessed to be insignificant.
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38.  

EV/EBITDA P/E

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at fair 
value through other comprehensive income have been estimated 
using a market-based valuation technique based on assumptions 
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. 
The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable 
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and 
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as 
enterprise value to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation (“EV/EBITDA”) multiple and price to earnings (“P/E”) 
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple 
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable 
company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then 
discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences 
between the comparable companies based on company-specific 
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the 
corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments 
to measure the fair value. The directors believe that the estimated 
fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are 
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and 
the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other 
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the 
most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, management has estimated 
the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as 
inputs to the valuation model.
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38.  38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy 
of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2024

Fair value measurement using

Fair value at 
31 December 

2024

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Financial assets
Equity investments designated 

at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

 
3,841 3,841

Bills receivable 121,801 121,801      

Total 125,642 121,801 3,841
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38.  38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using

Fair value at 
31 December 

2023

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Financial assets
Equity investments designated 

at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

 
3,700 3,700

Bills receivable 197,643 197,643      

Total 201,343 197,643 3,700
      

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during 
the year are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

At 1 January 3,700 190
Total gains recognised in other 

comprehensive income
 

141
Additions 3,700
Disposals (190)    

At 31 December 3,841 3,700
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39.  

(a) 

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and 
pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments 
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables 
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are 
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. 
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing 
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy 
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who 
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored 
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts 
is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated 
in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, 
the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific 
approval of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum 
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, 
which is mainly based on past due information unless other 
information is available without undue cost or effort, and 
year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
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39.  

(a) 

( )

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

1 2 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Trade receivables* * 1,279,165 1,279,165
Bills receivable

 Not yet past due  418,492 418,492
Financial assets included in 

prepayments and other current 
assets

 Normal**  ** 72,516 72,516
 Doubtful**  **

Restricted deposits
 Not yet past due  510,979 510,979

Cash and cash equivalents
 Not yet past due  270,699 270,699       

Total 1,272,686 1,279,165 2,551,851
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39.  

(a) 

( )

* 

21

** 

21 22

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

1 2 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Trade receivables* * 1,731,589 1,731,589
Bills receivable

 Not yet past due  287,397 287,397
Financial assets included in 

prepayments and other current 
assets

 Normal**  ** 86,982 86,982
 Doubtful**  **

Restricted deposits
 Not yet past due  1,358,000 1,358,000

Cash and cash equivalents
 Not yet past due  578,364 578,364       

Total 2,310,743 1,731,589 4,042,332
       

* For trade receivables included in trade, bills receivables and 

contract assets, to which the Group applies the simplified 

approach, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed 

in note 21 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments 

and other current assets is considered to be “normal” when they 

are not past due and there is no information indicating that the 

financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is 

considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s 
exposure to credit risk arising from trade, bills receivables 
and contract assets, and prepayments and other current 
assets are set out in notes 21 and 22.
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39.  

(b) 

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The liquidity of the Group is primarily depending on its 
ability to maintain adequate cash flows from operations, 
to renew its short-term bank loans and to obtain adequate 
external financing to support its working capital and meet 
its obligations and commitments when they become due. 
Management is taking certain actions to address these 
conditions in accordance with the Group’s policy of regularly 
monitoring its current and expected liquidity requirements 
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and 
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial 
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short 
and longer term. These actions include negotiating with 
banks to renew the short term loans and to explore the 
availability of alternative sources of financing.

The following tables show the remaining contractual 
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the 
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments 
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on 
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the 
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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39.  

(b) ( )

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2024

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

 

Carrying 
amount at 

31 December Total

Within 
1 year or 

on demand

More than 
1 year but 

less than 
2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 954,205 978,703 976,882 508 1,313
Trade and bills payables 1,563,184 1,563,184 1,563,184
Other payables and accruals 116,205 116,205 116,205
Lease liabilities 46,081 56,398 10,171 8,420 23,634 14,173        

Total 2,679,675 2,714,490 2,666,442 8,928 24,947 14,173
        

2023

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

 

Carrying 
amount at 

31 December Total

Within 
1 year or 

on demand

More than 
1 year but 

less than 
2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,223,923 1,263,817 1,234,987 28,830
Trade and bills payables 2,533,356 2,533,356 2,533,356
Other payables and accruals 253,957 253,957 253,957
Lease liabilities 27,180 29,938 5,707 4,897 13,688 5,646        

Total 4,038,416 4,081,068 4,028,007 33,727 13,688 5,646
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39.  

(c) 

100.0%
100.0%

(d) 

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed 
and variable rate borrowings in order to manage its interest 
rate risks. As at the end of 2024, the interest rates for 
100.0% (2023: 100.0%) of the Group’ debts were fixed. 
The fixed interest rates can reduce the volatility of finance 
costs under uncertain environments and the Company 
and its subsidiaries’ exposure to changes in interest rates 
is not expected to be material. During the year, however, 
the management of the Group did not consider that it is 
necessary to use interest rate swaps to hedge their exposure 
to interest.

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales 
and purchases, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings   
and cash and bank deposits that are denominated in a 
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional 
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. 
The primary currencies giving rise to this risk are United 
States dollar, Euro and Hong Kong dollar. Management 
does not expect any significant impact from movements in 
exchange rates since the Group uses the foreign currencies 
collected from customers to settle the amounts due to 
suppliers.
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39.  

(d) ( )

(i) 

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure 
at the end of the reporting period to currency risk 
arising from recognised assets or liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position (after 
elimination of intercompany receivables and payables) 
denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the entity to which they relate.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)
( )

2024 2023

United 
States 
Dollar Euro

Hong Kong 
Dollar

United 
States 
Dollar Euro

Hong Kong 
Dollar

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Trade, bills receivables and contract assets 16,691 60,389 24,463 165,827
Cash at banks and on hand 37,667 13,407 3,675 83,525 16,152 3,995
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (21,708) (2,646) (38,387) (1,672)
Trade and bills payables (119) (53)        

Total 32,650 73,796 1,029 69,482 181,926 2,323
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39.  

(d) ( )

(ii) 

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous 
change in the Group’s profit/(loss) for the year and 
in equity in response to reasonably possible changes 
in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group 
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting 
period.

Increase/(decrease) in profit

Increase/
(decrease) 
in foreign 

exchange rates 2024 2023

%
RMB’000 RMB’000

     

United States Dollar 10 3,265 6,948
(10) (3,265) (6,948)

Euro 10 7,380 18,193
(10) (7,380) (18,193)

Hong Kong Dollar 10 103 232
(10) (103) (232)

     

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change 
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments (excluding 
intercompany receivables and payables which are 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements) 
held by the Group which exposed the Group to 
foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting 
period. The analysis excludes differences that would 
result from the translation of the financial statements 
of the group companies into the presentation 
currency.
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39.  

(e) 

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management 
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not 
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a 
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing 
ratio as the ratio of total borrowings, less cash and cash 
equivalents, to the total of share capital and reserves.
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39.  

(e) 

40. 

41. 
23 26

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as 
follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Current liabilities:
Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings
25

952,661 1,195,684     

Non-current liabilities:
Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings
25

1,544 28,239     

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 24 (270,699) (578,364)     

Net debt 683,506 645,559
     

Share capital 285,924 285,924
Reserves 658,992 891,100     

Total 944,916 1,177,024
     

Gearing ratio 72.34% 54.85%
     

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No significant events after the reporting period are noted.

41. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
As disclosed in note 23 and 26 to the consolidated financial 
statements, certain comparative amounts have been reclassified 
and re-presented to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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42.  42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the 
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 1,414,742 1,384,462
    

Current assets
Cash at banks and on hand 1,275 1,421
    

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 99,878 107,172    

Net current liabilities (98,603) (105,751)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 1,316,139 1,278,711
    

Net assets 1,316,139 1,278,711
    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 285,924 285,924
Reserves (note 33) 33 1,030,215 992,787    

Total equity 1,316,139 1,278,711
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42.  

43.  

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

Share 

premium

Exchange 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses

Total 

reserves

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Balance at 1 January 2023 1,540,888 44,225 (618,879) 966,234

Loss for the year (4,426) (4,426)

Other comprehensive income 30,979 30,979      

Total comprehensive income 30,979 (4,426) 26,553      

Balance at 31 December 2023 1,540,888 75,204 (623,305) 992,787
      

Balance at 1 January 2024 1,540,888 75,204 (623,305) 992,787

Loss for the year (4,229) (4,229)

Other comprehensive income 41,657 41,657      

Total comprehensive income 41,657 (4,229) 37,428      

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,540,888 116,861 (627,534) 1,030,215
      

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue 
by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.
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